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Friday, June 20, 2025
--- On commencing at 9:32 a.m.


PRESIDING COMMISSIONER SWORD:  We will begin with a Land Acknowledgement, which will be conducted by our hearings advisor, Tiara Fearon.

Land Acknowledgement

MS. FEARON:  Good morning, everyone.  The Ontario Energy Board acknowledges that our headquarters in Toronto is located on the traditional territory of many Nations, including the Mississaugas of the Credit, the Anishinaabeg, the Chippewa, the Haudenosaunee, and the Wendat peoples.  This area is now home to many diverse First Nations, Inuit, and Métis Peoples.  We also acknowledge that Toronto is covered by Treaty 13 with the Mississaugas of the Credit.  We are grateful for the opportunity to gather and work on this land and recognize our shared responsibility to support and be good stewards of it.  Thank you.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER SWORD:  Thank you, Ms. Fearon.  Good morning.  My name is David Sword.  I am a Commissioner at the Ontario Energy Board, and I will be presiding over this hearing.  Joining me are Commissioner Allison Duff to my right and Commissioner Fred Cass to my left.

Today, the Ontario Energy Board is conducting a transcribed hybrid oral hearing on an application filed August 15, 2024 by EPCOR Natural Gas Limited Partnership for a geographically limited Certificate of Public Convenience and Necessity under section 8(1) of the Municipal Franchises Act, to enable EPCOR to supply additional natural gas to an existing greenhouse customer, 100516320 Ontario Inc., carrying on business as EZ Grow Farms Limited.  The Ontario Energy Board has assigned File No. EB-2024-0239 to this proceeding.

The Ontario Energy Board issued a Decision and Procedural Order No. 2 on June 5, 2025, which made provision for a hybrid oral hearing on this day, today, Friday, June 20, 2025.

We will now have appearances, starting, please, with the Applicant, EPCOR.
Appearances


MR. KING:  Good morning.  My name is Richard King.  I am legal counsel to EPCOR.  With me are the three panelists.  Starting from my far left is Susannah Robinson; she is the VP of EPCOR Ontario Utilities.  Seated next to her is Darren McCrank; her is the Director of Operations at EPCOR Ontario Utilities.  And then closest to me is Scott Lewis; he is the Vice President of Operations at Clearbeach and the related family of Clearbeach companies, Lagasco et cetera.  He is also the chair of the Ontario Petroleum Institute, which is the industry association representing the interests of gas and oil well owners in southern Ontario.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER SWORD:  Ontario Energy Board Staff.

MR. MURRAY:  Good morning, Commissioners.  It is Lawren Murray, counsel to Board Staff, and with me I have Natalya Plummer and Lindsay Wright.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER SWORD:  Clearbeach.

MR. BUDD:  Good morning.  My name is Peter Budd, and I'm happy to be back, and I am with Clearbeach as an advisor.
Procedural Matters


PRESIDING COMMISSIONER SWORD:  Thank you.  Before we begin, there are a few technical and procedural matters we would like to address.

Acronyms:  We would like the parties to please refrain from their use whenever possible.  When spelling things out, we can help ensure those who might be unfamiliar with certain industry terms and jargon so they may fully understand the terms being used.  It also prevents confusion as acronyms could have multiple to different parties.  This approach also assists the court reporter to ensure accuracy of the transcript.

Technical matters:  Should you experience a loss of Internet connection or suffer poor quality, the hearing will be paused and the court reporter will be directed to stop transcribing.  The affected party will be afforded time to rectify the problem.  In the event the matter cannot be resolved quickly, the OEB will decide on whether to adjust the schedule and how and take a break accordingly.

Do we have any procedural matters before we begin?

MR. MURRAY:  One thing I thought we might want to raise is that I don't believe we have appearances from people who are appearing for Enbridge.
Appearances


PRESIDING COMMISSIONER SWORD:  Yes, thank you.  Noted.  My apologies.  Appearances from Enbridge, please.

MS. PERSAD:  Thank you.  Good morning, Commissioners.  My name is Tania Persad.  I am in-house counsel for Enbridge Gas.  With me is Blair Hiseler; he's a utilization manager for the southwestern part of Ontario and covering our operations including Norfolk County.  Thank you.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER SWORD:  Thank you.  We will now proceed to the schedule.  The schedule for the morning is as follows:  Opening remarks from EPCOR; questions for the witness panel, starting with the Ontario Energy Board commissioners; followed by you, Enbridge Gas; followed by Ontario Energy Board Staff, with redirect by EPCOR's counsel.  Then, we will take a break.

We will now proceed to the schedule.  First, we will have the swearing in of witnesses.  Commissioner Cass.

COMMISSIONER CASS:  Yes.  Thank you, Commissioner Sword.  I will do the affirmation of the witnesses as a group.  I will call on each of you to respond as I do that.

As you know, you are about to give evidence in this hearing.  This OEB Panel is dependent on you telling us the truth, and the law requires you to do so.  Therefore, before you testify, I must ask you this:  Do you solemnly promise this OEB Panel that you will tell the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth, and do you understand that breaking this promise would be an offense under the law?  Ms. Robinson?

MS. ROBINSON:  I understand, and I do.

COMMISSIONER CASS:  Thank you.  Mr. McCrank?

MR. McCRANK:  I understand, and I do.

COMMISSIONER CASS:  Mr. Lewis?

MR. LEWIS:  I understand, and I do.

COMMISSIONER CASS:  Thank you very much.
EPCOR NATURAL GAS LP – PANEL 1

Susannah Robinson,

Darren McCrank,

Scott Lewis; Affirmed


PRESIDING COMMISSIONER SWORD:  Any opening remarks?
Examination-in-Chief by Mr. King


MR. KING:  Thank you.  I don't have opening remarks per se, but I do have some direct examination first for Ms. Robinson and Mr. McCrank -- it is their evidence -- and then a bit of direct examination from Mr. Lewis.

So, before I begin, just to get the formalities out of the way, to both Ms. Robinson and Mr. McCrank:  You are aware of the record in this proceeding, which comprises four documents, the application in evidence of August 15, 2024; the responses to interrogatories dated to January 7, 2025; and then EPCOR's responses to two rounds of supplemental questions, dated April 8 and June 12, 2025.  Are you both aware of those?

MS. ROBINSON:  We are.

MR. KING:  And do you agree that they are truthful and accurate to the best of your knowledge?  First, Mr. McCrank.

MR. McCRANK:  Yes, they are.

MR. KING:  And Ms. Robinson.

MS. ROBINSON:  Yes, I am, with the exception of one small item I would like to correct, and that is our June 12th submission.  On page 3, at the bottom, where it says "Second, it was determined between Clearbeach and ENGLP that Clearbeach would construct and initially own the Preferred Line, but Clearbeach was not interested," I think perhaps a better way to characterize that is "mostly indifferent" rather than "not interested."  Thank you.

MR. KING:  Turning to Mr. Lewis, the correction that Ms. Robinson made to the record, is that accurate?

MS. LEWIS:  Yes, that is accurate.

MR. KING:  So Clearbeach is mostly indifferent as to whether Clearbeach owns the pipeline or EPCOR does?

MR. LEWIS:  Yes.

MR. KING:  I have a bit of further direct from Mr. Lewis.  Because one of the issues in the proceeding turns on the nature of this particular pipeline, we thought it would be helpful to the Board to provide some background to Clearbeach's business.  And so we have a map we would like to bring up, and perhaps we could give it an exhibit number?

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER SWORD:  That will be Exhibit K1.1.
EXHIBIT K1.1: Map


MR. KING:  Is that visible to everyone?  So, Mr. Lewis, could I ask you to describe what we are looking at?

MR. LEWIS:  This is our wells and pipelines in East Elgin and a little bit of the Norfolk area for the Clearbeach group.  The red dots on the map of are wells, gas wells mainly.  The blue dots on the map are locations where we deliver gas to the utility, both Enbridge and EPCOR.  The yellow on the map are onshore pipelines, and the green in the southwest corner of the map are offshore pipelines.

MR. KING:  I'm wondering if Mr. Hesselink, who is controlling the map, could sort of pan out to get a bigger picture.  And, Mr. Lewis, this is just your system there are other producers as well with their own wells and production lines?

MR. LEWIS:  That is correct.

MR. KING:  And over sort of what length of time was this system built up?

MR. LEWIS:  Over, over the course of decades it has been built up.  I believe through the earlier wells that were drilled in this area predated 2000, the year 2000.

MR. KING:  And so, this is what, for the benefit of the panel, this is what the yellow lines in particular what we referred to in the June 12th, responses to clarifying questions as "production lines."  Essentially, lines that flow well gas to gas distributors.  And it is my understanding that Clearbeach provides well gas to not only EPCOR but to Enbridge as well?

MR. LEWIS:  Yes.

MR. KING:  And the pipeline that is the subject of today's proceeding is one of these yellow lines on the map; correct?

MR. LEWIS:  Yes, it would be the blue dot that is furthest southeast on the map would be the delivery location to EPCOR at the EZ Grow site.

MR. KING:  And then my final question is actually a question the Board Staff asked in the first round of interrogatories to EPCOR, but it's really a question I think that's better answered by Clearbeach.  And the question was question 1 (h), and it was:  How long will the line, the pipeline, be able to supply gas to EPCOR?

MR. LEWIS:  We believe it will be reliably able to do that for decades.  We do not have a reserve report with the onshore productions connected to our offshore production where we do have an independent third-party reserves evaluator, and it's also connected with the northernmost blue dot to Enbridge through 4-inch 700 pound line.  It could be utilized to bring gas through the system in the future if necessary.

MR. KING:  And does Clearbeach hold any certificates of public convenience in this site?

MR. LEWIS:  Yes.  For the Maricann customer and end use gas customer.

MR. KING:  But other than that one instance, and I don't know how long that particular pipeline, is but other than that one instance the rest of the system, of Clearbeach's system, does not have CPC, using an acronym, certificates attached to them?

MR. LEWIS:  That's correct.  And we have no other certificates other than the necessity.

MR. KING:  And the reason you have the one for the Maricann site is because that was supply of gas well to a customer directly and doesn't feed the system, the gas distribution system; correct?

MR. LEWIS:  Yes.  We're we are not aware of any locations where we supply gas to utility where we have a certificate of public convenience and necessity.

MR. KING:  Those are all my questions.  The panel is available for cross-examination. 

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER SWORD:  Commissioner Duff?
Questions by the Board

COMMISSIONER DUFF:  Sure.  Good morning, everyone.  I have a few questions.  I will start by just framing what this application is about; okay?  So, EPCOR wants to buy this pipeline that has been constructed; is that correct?  And it needs and it's looking for OEB requisite approvals in order to do that is that still the case, as well?

MR. LEWIS:  Perhaps I will just elaborate on that, if I may.  When we first applied for the CPCN, the Certificate of Public Convenience in August, we believed we needed the certificate, and as we spoke further with Clearbeach, we came to understand, as Clearbeach has said, that these producer pipelines, essentially these lines going from gas wells to gas distributors, essentially did not require a Certificate of Public Convenience.  And this sort of eliminated the urgency that we had initially applied for for a streamlined regulatory process which we felt was necessary to meet the customer demands.  But we still felt that it was helpful if we had a Certificate of Public Convenience as, if we were to be the ultimate owner of the pipeline, it provides sort of a regulatory document which notes the geographic area of the pipeline, and that it is a production line and that it was an intent to serve a customer as we traverse through the Enbridge franchise.

In terms of ownership of the pipeline, you know, when we first looked at it the pipeline traverses through Enbridge and then within our franchise, and we thought perhaps it would be helpful to own a piece that was in our own franchise.  Perhaps we would like to serve a customer further along.  But there was no clear demarcation on the pipe that it made sense for us to sort of split that pipeline in two in terms of ownership.  So, just for practical matters we felt that ownership was helpful and it was ultimately to serve our customer, and practically it made sense just for us to operate and maintain the pipeline in its entirety.  Does not answer your question?

COMMISSIONER DUFF:  Yes.  That is helpful.  The other aspect about you buying the pipeline is that it would be EPCOR's intent in its next rebasing that if it has purchased this asset that it would add it to rate base, it would be part of your distribution assets of the regulated utility; is that correct?

MR. LEWIS:  I believe this asset was in our last filing, because we were aware of the requirement to serve this customer.  So, Darren, correct me if I'm wrong, but it was in our capital plan in our 2024 rate filing.  So it has been, in fact, applied for and approved.

COMMISSIONER DUFF:  Okay.  Fair enough.  You identified it as a – in your distribution system plan for 5 years.  We are now in that five-year period and you have executed -- you are trying to execute one of the plans?

MR. LEWIS:  Correct.

COMMISSIONER DUFF:  Okay.  Fair enough.  I do want to turn to -- well, most of my questions will be on the filing of June the 12th, if we could perhaps pull that up.  That is very helpful.

And first, I want to thank you.  You filed it early, we had asked for it to be filed June 17th, and I personally appreciated the five extra days.  And if we could start -- my questions will be on talking about the pipe, the actual physical pipe.  So, if we could turn to page 2, and about halfway down.  And where does the pipe start?  And, we have -- Mr. King talked about this in his opening remarks.  So, it's called the preferred line, that's what you call it, that's what you call it, that's what it is, that's the subject matter of this proceeding is the preferred line?

MR. LEWIS:  Correct.

COMMISSIONER DUFF:  And it is an extension of what you call Clearbeach's line.

MR. LEWIS:  Correct.

COMMISSIONER DUFF:  And Clearbeach's line, if I follow that through, I guess, it's a footnote.  This Clearbeach line is the pipeline that was subject of that EB-2017-0289 proceeding.  Like, that -- it's the same pipeline, is it not?

MR. McCRANK:  Yes, Scott, do you know?  

MR. LEWIS:  I don't believe it is the same line, the pipeline, it was constructed in 2024 the year serving EZ Grow off of looking to purchase or take ownership of.

COMMISSIONER DUFF:  Okay.  So, this is an important point.  So, if we could just read the first bullet point.  It is the empty circle:
"First the preferred line was an extension of Clearbeach's line that supplied McCann."

And then it says in brackets:
"The only Clearbeach line subject to the CPCN."

So, am I not understanding those words correctly?

MR. LEWIS:  Yes, that looks, correct.  It is an extension, it is downstream from the CPCN line.

COMMISSIONER DUFF:  Okay.  That was subject.  And it is footnote number 2.  There is the reference there to that and the only CPCN, I'm using the acronyms, but that line, and you are saying that where the preferred line starts, is that line or some kind of extension of that line; have I got that right?

MR. LEWIS:  There's a gas skid, and then it's downstream of the gas skid.  There is a processing skid with dehydration and separation.  And the line, the EZ Grow line, is downstream of that skid.

COMMISSIONER DUFF:  Okay.

MR. LEWIS:  And the pipeline upstream of that skid is the one with the CPCN.

COMMISSIONER DUFF:  Because in the evidence, the application -- we don't have to turn to it, it is your option -- but you provided an appendix that had 174 pages, and there is a picture, a depiction of this line.  And it looked like it was starting at the Maricann station.  Perhaps you could explain, am I correct it is starting at the Maricann station?  And could you just describe that station for me and its purpose?

MR. LEWIS:  That station is -- it has a separation and dehydration, and it moved downstream from that station.  That station, from that station, the gas goes into Maricann.  And now gas also goes through the EZ Grow pipeline, to EZ, from that location.

MS. ROBINSON:  If I could just elaborate for a moment.  The original 2017 was -- and I don't want to speak on behalf of Scott, but that was to provide Maricann with natural gas.  So, in this application, this is a new pipeline from the Maricann station into EPCOR system.  So it is a brand-new system from that Maricann demarcation point or meter point, over to EPCOR.  So this is a brand-new line.  It was not contemplated back when they -- they being Clearbeach -- provided Maricann with natural gas.

And when we had initially looked at this project, Clearbeach had mentioned that they had additional gas that happened to be at Maricann, and that's when we looked at this project initially to establish the new pipeline from the Maricann here, into the EPCOR system and ultimately to EZ Grow.

I hope that clarifies.

COMMISSIONER DUFF:  Yes.  So starting from the Maricann station -- that's accurate.  And who owns that Maricann station?  Whose asset is that?

MR. LEWIS:  OM Limited Partnership, which -- it has ownership with Clearbeach.

COMMISSIONER DUFF:  Thank you.  Okay.  And then if we could turn to page 4, at the very bottom of page 4?  And again, I am still on the June 12 filing, there is reference here to a regulating station.  Now, I'm looking at the other end of the pipeline.  It says EPCOR installed the station, this regulating station -- and I am paraphrasing here -- but it is this regulating station that enabled EPCOR to start supplying EZ Grow with the gas.

So I just want to make sure I understand what this station is.  Is it correct to describe it as a -- the regulating station is at the very -- is at the other end of the pipeline?

MR. McCRANK:  So that's correct.  It's a separate regulating station.  It is an EPCOR-owned regulating station at the EZ Grow site, where both EPCOR's original pipeline and the pipeline that's under consideration here connect to EZ Grow's site, but also connect to the larger ENGLP system, the EPCOR system.

COMMISSIONER DUFF:  Okay.  Well, that's helpful.  So it is an EPCOR asset?

MR. McCRANK:  Correct.

COMMISSIONER DUFF:  Envisioned, I guess, in your DSP, but it is an EPCOR asset, and it has the intake for this new -- the additional gas that is being delivered subsequent to December 2024?

MR. McCRANK:  That's correct.

COMMISSIONER DUFF:  Okay.  Thank you.  And did I hear you correctly, it also ties in the other existing EPCOR system which had previously served this customer?

MR. McCRANK:  That's correct.

COMMISSIONER DUFF:  Thank you.  That's helpful.  I now want to look at -- Mr. King, you addressed a few of my question, so I am just editing them out now.

I want to talk about the actual commodity of gas and how it is flowing, okay?  I'm going to change topics slightly.

Perhaps the easiest way to do this is to turn to page 5 of the June 12.  The OEB's question was regarding, what is the tie-in -- and pardon the pun -- but what is the relationship between the asset purchase agreement to buy the pipeline and the actual gas purchase arrangement for delivery of the commodity?  That was the question regarding the two.

And your answer is that:
"There is currently an interim agreement in place between EPCOR and Clearbeach to which EPCOR purchases gas that runs through the Preferred Line."

I am just reading.  That's correct?  Is that sentence correct?

MS. ROBINSON:  Correct.

COMMISSIONER DUFF:  So that regulating station, what function does it provide?  Does it also provide metering and billing information for you in order to build the customer, EZ Grow?

MR. McCRANK:  Yes, it does.

COMMISSIONER DUFF:  Thank you.  And so today, there is gas that is originating obviously from some well.  Do you know who the actual producer is, for this gas?  Or is it relevant?

MR. McCRANK:  The system gas?

COMMISSIONER DUFF:  The additional gas.

MR. McCRANK:  The additional gas coming from the -- yes, it would just be coming from either the Enbridge system well sites.  It would be referred as system gas.  It is delivered along the EPCOR system to the customer.  In this case, the end-use customer being...

COMMISSIONER DUFF:  And the additional gas that's being delivered after December 2024, it is coming from a somewhat different place.  Am I right?  So it is starting from some production well in Ontario?

MR. LEWIS:  Yeah.  It is generally coming from the wells on the map.

COMMISSIONER DUFF:  Yes.

MR. LEWIS:  It is -- 

COMMISSIONER DUFF:  And they are all owned by the Clearbeach Group of companies, or is this owned by OM Energy?

MR. LEWIS:  It is owned by Clearbeach.

COMMISSIONER DUFF:  Okay.  So that is where the gas starts.  It flows along this pipeline that was subject to the EB-2017 proceeding.  There are some tie-ins of the Maricann station.  It then flows through the Preferred Line, and it is received by EPCOR, today, at this regulating station.

Have I got that right?

MR. McCRANK:  That's correct.

COMMISSIONER DUFF:  I am not trying to simplify it, but I just want to make sure I understand where the commodity is flowing.  Right.

MR. McCRANK:  That's correct.

COMMISSIONER DUFF:  So today, the customers' needs are being met.  I mean, this was the initial objective of this whole proceeding.

MS. ROBINSON:  Correct.

COMMISSIONER DUFF:  The customer is receiving the gas that it needs from two different sources.

MS. ROBINSON:  Correct.

COMMISSIONER DUFF:  And should I be concerned at all that this is an interim supply agreement?  How is this proceeding tied?  Like, your ability to purchase this line, is it a "nice to have"?  Or is necessary?

MS. ROBINSON:  As I referenced earlier, when we looked at it, because the pipeline is partially in our system and partially outside of our system, we felt that it would be preferable for us to own the system, which would allow us to operate and maintain the full system.  But it's not required for any reason in terms of serving the customer, Commissioner Duff.

COMMISSIONER DUFF:  Is there any risk?  I mean, I was just stuck on the words "interim agreement", and this relationship with the asset purchase.  If the asset purchase didn't happen, is there any risk to the customer about ongoing supply?

I mean, you talked about there is enough, seems to be enough gas in the system.  There doesn't seem to be a problem of supply.

MS. ROBINSON:  No, I do not believe so.

COMMISSIONER DUFF:  Okay.

MS. ROBINSON:  As we have said, there is sufficient gas, and that we have a gas purchase agreement, regardless of ownership of the pipe, to purchase the commodity sufficient to meet EZ Grow.

COMMISSIONER DUFF:  And would you see any problems in firming up this interim agreement?

MS. ROBINSON: I do not.
COMMISSIONER DUFF:  Okay. Thank you.  Those are all my questions.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER SWORD:  Thank you, Commissioner Duff.  Commissioner Cass.


COMMISSIONER CASS:  Thank you.  Witnesses, you will be happy to hear that your answers to Commissioner Duff's questions have eliminated quite a number of my questions.  However, I do have a little bit of follow-up.

Ms. Robinson, I understood you to say that EPCOR does not believe it needs a certificate from the OEB.  Is that correct?

MS. ROBINSON:  Just to clarify, if I wasn't clear, when we initially looked at the solution for this customer and the customer approached us and we had conversations with Clearbeach, it sort of -- we understood that, as you saw from the map, that these producer lines which essentially take gas from wells to utilities, both ourselves and EPCOR did not require a CPCN.  However, if we were to ultimately own the pipe and, as I said, we felt practically it made sense for EPCOR to own the pipe in order to operate and maintain it, that we ultimately would need a limited certificate if public convenience because we would be partially traversing through the Enbridge franchise as part of that, of that pipeline.  If we were to own it as the utility traversing through the Enbridge pipeline, we felt we needed that limited Certificate of Public Convenience.

COMMISSIONER CASS:  Yes, I understood what you said about the original application.  Sitting here today, does EPCOR say that it needs the certificate or not?

MS. ROBINSON:  No, I do not believe so.

COMMISSIONER CASS:  Okay.  Thank you.  So I would just like to put this in terms of section 8 of the Municipal Franchises Act.  You understand that it's under section 8 that a certificate would be granted?

MS. ROBINSON:  I believe so, yes.

COMMISSIONER CASS:  Yes.  So, when you say, sitting here today, EPCOR does not need a certificate, you are saying that EPCOR as you sit here now today has not done anything and does not propose to do anything that triggers section 8?

If section 8 was triggered, you would need a --

MS. ROBINSON:  Correct.

COMMISSIONER CASS:  -- certificate?  So you are with me.  EPCOR sitting here today is saying it has not done anything and it is not doing anything that triggers the need for a certificate under section 8?

MR. KING:  I think if I can, yes, I think that is how it was framed in the June 12th.  I think one of the questions was:  What is the Board asking -- what is EPCOR asking the Board to do?  And I think this is partly legal argument, and I will address it in legal argument in terms of what, the reasons why I think EPCOR would like a section 8 certificate and whether the Board has authority to grant it, given the circumstances.

COMMISSIONER CASS:  Thank you, Mr. King.  That's very helpful.  That was going to be my next question, and I was expecting that Mr. King would indicate that he will address that in submissions.  Maybe I will just frame the question.  I would appreciate any participant making submissions here if any assistance can be offered to the Board.  Speaking on behalf of myself, I would appreciate any assistance with this question.

If EPCOR is saying that section 8 is not triggered, what authority does the Board have today to grant relief to EPCOR under section 8?

 So I understand, Mr. King, you will address that in submissions, and I will leave it there.

MR. KING:  Correct.

COMMISSIONER CASS:  I did have a series of questions about the extension of the line that currently supplies gas to Maricann.  I think they've been answered.  I just want to be sure I got the answer correctly.  So there is a supply to Maricann by Clearbeach through a station.  Is that correct?

MR. LEWIS:  That is correct.

COMMISSIONER CASS:  And it's from that station supply through which Clearbeach supplies gas to Maricann that the new pipeline connects?

MR. LEWIS:  Yes, there were some upgrades to the station that were required with the new pipeline, but it is the same station.

COMMISSIONER CASS:  So I realize that both Clearbeach and EPCOR do not think that a certificate is needed for the line we are speaking of today -- I think it's called the "Preferred Line" in the June 12th filing -- but it is a consideration for the Board since there is a certificate application in front of it:  What is there here that might require a certificate?

And I don't mean to suggest in any way that the Board has formed any conclusion on this, but, if the OEB were to decide that it is that line that triggers the need for a certificate, would it not follow that the constructor of the line needs the certificate?

MR. KING:  I can address that in argument, as well.

COMMISSIONER CASS:  Yes, certainly.  Thank you.  And perhaps because so much is going to argument and I just want to be sure we have the facts straight, I maybe will ask just a few more questions about what has been constructed and what is intended to be constructed.  The Preferred Line as it has been called, has been constructed by Clearbeach.  I have that correctly?

MR. LEWIS:  Correct.

COMMISSIONER CASS:  EPCOR proposes a limited certificate crossing an area where Enbridge already holds a certificate; EPCOR is not proposing any construction --

MS. ROBINSON:  Correct.

COMMISSIONER CASS:  -- in the area of that limited certificate?

MS. ROBINSON:  Correct.

COMMISSIONER CASS:  Right.  Thank you.  So, to the extent that we have construction of works to supply gas to consider within the meaning of section 8, really the only construction here that we have to look at -- and, again, the Panel has not made a decision.  But the only construction we have to look at is this Preferred Line.  Is there anything else?

MS. ROBINSON:  That's correct.  There is no further construction.

COMMISSIONER CASS:  Okay.  Thank you.  And so I'm almost out of -- I did, I think, just have a few questions about the preferred line.  Yes.  I just wanted to confirm my understanding, and please do correct me if I'm wrong.

Prior to the June 12th filing in this proceeding, the preferred line has not been referred to in anything in this proceeding as a production line.  Do I have that right?

MS. ROBINSON:  I believe so.

COMMISSIONER CASS:  You believe that what I said is correct?

MS. ROBINSON:  Yes.

COMMISSIONER CASS:  Okay.  And, again, please understand that no decision has been made on this.  It's just important, I think, for the Panel to know these things as it considers what is in front of it.

If the Panel were to decide that what has been described as a production line, that is the Preferred Line, needs a certificate, would it be of any concern to EPCOR to be acquiring this line that would have been constructed not in compliance with the Municipal Franchises Act?

MR. KING:  I will take that one again to argument.  So the question, just so I'm clear is?

COMMISSIONER CASS:  I didn't intend that to be a legal question.

MR. KING:  Okay.

COMMISSIONER CASS:  I'm sorry, Mister...

MR. KING:  King.

COMMISSIONER CASS:  Mr. King.  Perhaps I framed it in a way that made it sound too legal.  All I'm saying is -- this is a question for EPCOR.  We don't know what the Panel will decide, but, if the Panel were to decide that that production needs a certificate, would EPCOR be concerned at all about acquiring it even though it doesn't have a certificate?  Is that a concern for you?

MS. ROBINSON:  If I am following, I don't believe that we would have a concern.  The reason we are here asking for a CPCN or Certificate of Public Convenience is we thought it was helpful in terms of clarity that the line is intended to traverse and not intended to serve a customer.

When we were originally thinking through what was needed in order to meet the customer's requirements, in my mind, Commissioner Cass, it was akin to the line that we had in our Southern Bruce franchise, where we have -- I can't remember the number of kilometres, but -- many kilometres of line that goes through what is called the Dornoch station, which is the interconnect to the Enbridge line, across the Brockton area and into the Enbridge franchise.  It was determined there that we had required a limited CPCN to be clear that the line we were constructing was in fact simply to traverse.

And, when we were thinking about it, that was the construct that I had in my mind in terms of what was required in order to serve the customer.  I don't know that that is helpful, but that was sort of the thinking process we were going through in terms of what is required from a regulatory construct in order for us to both meet the requirements of the customer and ensure that we had all of the [audio dropout].  I don't know if that is helpful.  That was the thinking process.

COMMISSIONER CASS:  Okay, I'm not sure.  So, we don't know this today, but, if the Board were to decide that Clearbeach needs or needed a certificate, that is if the Board were to indicate that in its decision, would EPCOR propose to just go ahead with its acquisition of the pipeline as you have described?

MR. KING: I know you don't want me to jump in, but I have -- just to clarify.  If the Board decision -- I just want to get clarity around what the Board is saying.  If the Board decision said, hypothetically, that this was the preferred pipeline, should have gotten a certificate, wouldn't part of that decision then also give the certificate, and then are we talking about a situation where prior to purchase the certificate would be transferred as part of a transfer of the approvals?  Or are you saying you would be uncomfortable with a Board decision that just sat out there saying a certificate was required for this asset, we are not giving you a certificate, EPCOR would you still take the pipeline; is that the question?

COMMISSIONER CASS:  Yes, we are hearing that EPCOR has not constructed anything, is not proposing to construct anything that will trigger section 8.  The only thing we have before us by way of construction, as I said already, is we know that Clearbeach has constructed something.  So, EPCOR has no basis for a certificate.  But what if the Board, and we don't know this now, but what if the Board looks at all of this and says, well, yes, there is something that's been constructed here that needs a certificate, it was constructed by Clearbeach.  EPCOR hasn't constructed anything.

MS. ROBINSON:  I, think, and I'm just thinking aloud, but I think in that instance we wouldn't proceed with the acquisition of the pipeline itself.  It would remain a Clearbeach asset but we would continue to purchase the commodity, but it wouldn't be at the Maricann station, it would be presumably at either the EZ Grow station or the connection to our franchise, I'm not sure which, again, there is no demarcation at the connection to our franchise.  But just presumably like the other production pipelines we just acquire the commodity agreement would stay in place in order to satisfy the customer needs, we just wouldn't proceed with the acquisition of the line itself.  Is that helpful?

COMMISSIONER CASS:  That's helpful, thank you.  Again, very interested in hearing the submissions.  I don't know where the decision will land.  But, from my perspective, when it comes to consider what is there here that could maybe be triggering section 8, the one thing that I look at is the construction of a line by Clearbeach.  Doesn't mean it does trigger section 8, but it seems to me to be a consideration for the panel.  Anyway, thank you for your response.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER SWORD:  Thank you, Commissioner Cass.  Commissioner Duff, do you have any further questions?

COMMISSIONER DUFF:  Thank you.  The last set of the questions made me think of something that I wanted to ask so I'm going to put my so I'm going to put my accountant hat on.  It's a very narrow hat.

Utilities come in every five years to have their rates reset.  Construction happens all the time between those five years, and in my mind, the way I look at it as a commissioner, when the cost of service happens, I then look at the purchases, or the construction that have happened, all the assets and there is a prudence consideration before I add it into rate base.  Was the amount prudent?  Maybe you overspent, underspent versus the DSP, the distribution service plan, those kinds of considerations.  Are you following the scenario I am giving you?

MS. ROBINSON:  I am.

COMMISSIONER DUFF:  Okay.  So, this asset you have answered Commissioner Cass's questions, you may decide to purchase this pipeline despite this proceeding.  I mean it it's -- EPCOR can do a number of things; that is a possibility?

MS. ROBINSON:  Correct.

COMMISSIONER DUFF:  But it also is a decision of yours to decide, do I add it to my distribution company, or do I keep it separate?  Like, I mean, you've asked -- we don't know  what's going to happen in your next cost of service.  I guess there is a potential that how this could play out we won't know until your next cost of service when you decide you want this part of your regulated -- is that a correct option to put in front of you?

MS. ROBINSON:  So, just so that I'm clear and I have an even narrower accounting hat, we did apply in our last cost of service for -- we were aware that this customer wanted to connect, so whether we purchased it or constructed it at the last filing we knew that the capital dollars had to be spent in order to service this customer.  So, it is in the filing, presumably it would be subject to some prudency in terms of what we put in versus what we initially put in our distribution system plan, although I think it's almost pretty close in terms of sharing in terms of what we expected of a capital cost to be, whether or not we purchased it or built it, the couple cost to service EZ Grow.

MR. LEWIS:  If I may, Commissioner Duff, just so it is clear, the project was in the bridge year for this last rate filing.  It was approved in rates, the cost to construct this pipe or to enable this pipe has been already approved in rates.  So it wouldn't -- some costs were in the test year as well, but as far as the next rate filing when it comes to, already, a project that has been by the OEB through our last rate filing.

COMMISSIONER DUFF:  That's very helpful, thank you, I wasn't aware of that.  Okay.  Fair enough.  And, again, I was just describing an option based on the answer that was already in the bridge year, the capital cost.  I just wasn't aware of that.  Thank you for clarifying that.

One more question.  We talked about, I'm going back again, the beginning of the pipeline, the start of the pipeline, this Maricann station.  In that EB 2017 proceeding there was two certificates issued; one was for the pipeline, and one was for a tie-in.  Do you think the tie-in is the Maricann station?  Are we talking about the same thing or is that way too much detail, that you're not -- can you confirm that?

MR. LEWIS:  I can't confirm, but it seems likely.

COMMISSIONER DUFF:  Thank you very much.  Okay.  Those are my questions.  Commissioner Sword.


PRESIDING COMMISSIONER SWORD:  Thank you, Commissioner Duff.  Thank you.  Mr. Lewis, for the Maricann station, how many lines come into it with supply?

MR. LEWIS:  I believe there are two lines, one from the east and one from the west.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER SWORD:  And they converge at the station, and do you have one station there?

MR. LEWIS:  One station.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER SWORD:  Sure.  And what are the characteristics of the lines that serve that?  Are they distribution or production or one or the other?

MR. LEWIS:  You can see the lines on the map that we showed there, it's gas from wells that moves to the skid to have the water knocked out of it and to be brought to a specification that it could be --

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER SWORD:  Sure.  Gas, quality gas, dehydration?

MR. LEWIS:  Yes, yes.  So it's well gas that moves through the pipelines to the Mericann skid and there is no compression.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER SWORD:  Sure.  Are there two, though?  Is one of them a distribution line or are they both production lines?

MR. LEWIS:  They are both lines in our gathering system.  Maybe -- Mericann approached us wanting some gas supply.  It was an uncertificated area.  I believe Enbridge was serving them based on property in the uncertificated area.  We put together a cost to construct some -- to add to our gathering system in order to have the volumes that they were asking for flow to that direction.  And they paid us to construct the pipeline.  We constructed the pipeline.  And we had a commercial arrangement for selling them gas at a discount to what Enbridge would be charging them.  And that is how we went about with that piece of pipeline.  It's embedded in our gathering system, it's part of our gathering system but it was -- the purpose of the additional line was to have some of the volumes flow in a little bit different direction within our gathering system to the customer.  And we became aware that we  to serve an end-use customer and we needed a Certificate of Public Convenience and Necessity and we applied to the Board to get that.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER SWORD:  Okay, sure.  And from the Mericann downstream that is the one line that comes into EZ Grow?

MR. LEWIS:  Downstream of Mericann, yes.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER SWORD:  Sure.  And it is the gas, quality gas, that's at the Mericann station.  Is mercaptan added at that location or EZ Grow?  Or is there?

MR. LEWIS:  There is mercaptan added for EZ Grow.  I'm not entirely sure whether the gas stream that -- or, sorry, there is mercaptan added for Mericann.  I am not entirely sure where within the skid that's added if it's with the other pipeline as well.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER SWORD:  Okay.  And the EZ Grow site, you have an existing line, and the new Preferred Line that has come in, on that, it's at a new one regulating station at the EZ Grow site?

MR. LEWIS:  Sorry, could you repeat the question?

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER SWORD:  Sorry, yes.  There was existing supply to EZ Grow, and a new line that came in.  A new regulating station was built by EPCOR.  They serve -- the regulating station receives gas from both lines?

MR. LEWIS:  That's correct, yes.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER SWORD:  Okay.  Thank you.  Clearbeach uses a third party to do their construction -- AECON, we understand?

MR. LEWIS:  We do some construction ourselves, and some have a --

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER SWORD:  Construction crews.  But you have AECON to build the specific line for you?

MR. LEWIS:  Yes.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER SWORD:  Yes.  Does EPCOR use AECON as well, by chance?

MS. ROBINSON:  We do.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER SWORD:  Sure.  Yes, a well-known company in that.

Just a question, then:  If you use AECON, EPCOR uses AECON, and Clearbeach  uses AECON, why didn't Clearbeach just seek to build the line themselves?  I am sorry, why didn't EPCOR, rather -- pardon me:  Why didn't EPCOR elect to build the line themselves?

MS. ROBINSON:  Well, I believe if we had wanted to build the line ourselves, as our initial application we applied for that initial CPCN and we asked for it on an expedited basis in order to meet the gas requirements which were originally November, we ultimately served them in December.  But that was clearly an aggressive timeline to meet the customer requirements in requesting that initial CPCN.  We were aware of that.

And that, in further conversations, it became aware that the producer line or the production line did not require a CPCN.  And, you know, we were very focused on meeting those customer requirements, gas requirements; their alternative was heating oil, which none of us wanted, including the customer.

So it felt most prudent in order to meet those timelines to allow Clearbeach to construct that producer line and that's -- hence, when we ultimately then said well, perhaps we would like to own it in the fullness of time, if you will, due to the simplicity of operating it.

But that was our initial thought back in August, when we applied, but clearly that expedited CPCN was very aggressive.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER SWORD:  Okay, sure.  Understood.

Commissioner Cass or Commissioner Duff?  No?

Well, thank you, very much.  We would like to turn to, on the schedule, Enbridge Gas will have an opportunity for any questions.

Enbridge, you have the floor.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Persad


MS. PERSAD:  Thank you, Commissioner Sword.  We only have a few areas of inquiry, and the Commissioners have covered a lot of ground.  So thank you, very much, for that.

So, first of all, I am just going to start with one follow-up question, though, from your line of questioning, Commissioner Sword.  And that is -- and, you know, maybe I missed it in the material, I am not sure.  But can EPCOR please clarify why it did not notify the OEB of the fact that the line had been constructed, until interrogatories were asked of it?

MR. KING:  I think that's a legal question.  There is no legal obligation to notify the Board.  It is a production line.  It was constructed by a producer.  They construct lines all the time.  They are not compelled to get a CPCN.  There is no other regulatory or legislative provision that I am aware of whereby Clearbeach is required to notify the Board of every time it builds a pipeline.

MS. PERSAD:  Okay.  Thanks, for that.

So I am just going to explore a little bit about what's in the interrogatory responses regarding Enbridge's -- the options that may have been available from Enbridge to supply the customer.  So here, I am referring to the interrogatory responses from EPCOR filed on January 7.  And there were responses related to OEB staff interrogatories, Nos. 1 and 2, that I am going to refer to.  You don't necessarily need to pull them up, if you have the hard copies in front of you.

But in 1(c), EPCOR states that to the best of its knowledge the location of the nearest Enbridge distribution pipeline is seven kilometres northeast of the proposed pipeline and associated facilities.  However, in the response to the OEB staff question No. 2, EPCOR states that -- so you might need to flip to that one.  And if you scroll down a little bit, to the response to (e)?  There we go.  So EPCOR here states that:
"The Enbridge second option involves Enbridge constructing less than two kilometres of new gas main."

This appears to be inconsistent with the response in question 1, that the distribution pipeline is seven kilometres away.  I am just wondering what your understanding is of that inconsistency, and wondering would it be more accurate to state on the basis of the second option that the Enbridge pipeline is actually only about two kilometres away?

MS. ROBINSON:  Thank you. I think it is more accurate to say that there is more than one potential interconnect to the Enbridge system.  I don't know the exact mileage of both of those, but it is more accurate to say there is more than one connection.

But I think, regardless, Ms. Persad, our understanding -- and we did meet with Enbridge just to explore the option -- but in any of the cases, or either of the cases, it was not possible for Enbridge to construct the solution in time to meet the customer's requirements for the November/December timeline.

MS. PERSAD:  Okay.  Thank you, for that clarification.  So am I to take it then from your answer that -- you know, the two kilometres away sounds like that that exists.  So that would be accurate, that the Enbridge distribution pipe is approximately two kilometres away?

MR. McCRANK:  I guess I don't know.  When I look at this, it just says that it involves 1.4 kilometre of new six-inch gas mainline.  But I don't see the reference to the two kilometres, the assets.  I think in question 1(c), I think it is referring to, if I scroll back to it myself, here, that the nearest pipeline is seven kilometres to the northeast, but that the answer then you are referring to is -- I think what EPCOR is saying there is that it would involve 1.5 kilometres of new six-inch gas pipeline, but I don't see where it references the two kilometres away from the ENGLP system.

MS. PERSAD:  That's fair.  I was only adding the two numbers, 1.4 kilometres and 0.4 kilometres, in that second paragraph -- maybe a little bit less than two kilometres.

MR. McCRANK:  Yes, I can see where you are seeing the discrepancy between the two answers.

MS. PERSAD:  Okay.  And you have no reason to think that those answers are incorrect.  So we can take them for what they say?

MR. McCRANK:  I am just going to read them again, if you give me a second.

I would have to, I think, look closely at the system.  I mean, it could be that -- I just don't know how to interpret that, necessarily.  It could be that that is referring to, there could be two kilometres of pipeline that could be constructed, connecting to a different part of the ENGLP system.  I just don't know the Enbridge system well enough to be able to say that is connecting to the point of load, if you will, or if that is just an option that was presented to our engineers from Enbridge saying we could construct two kilometres of pipeline in a certain part of the system to connect to the ENGLP system that might provide the necessary gas supply to...

This, it gets very complicated, of course, with the modelling.  So I don't know that it necessarily is incorrect to say that the nearest Enbridge supply point is seven kilometres, but I have to admit that I can't confirm that you aren't correct, Ms. Persad.

MS. PERSAD:  Thank you.  That's fine.  I don't think we need to spend any more time on that.  Thank you for your answers on that point.  I'm just going to move now to the EPCOR arrangements with Clearbeach, and you've already discussed that quite length at length, so I'm not going to ask many questions in this area.  But I would just like to confirm, and I believe Mr. Lewis stated that Clearbeach has decades of reserves available, I believe, to serve the EZ Grow facility.  Was that correct?

MR. LEWIS:  Sorry, can you repeat that question?

MS. PERSAD:  It is about the reserves that Clearbeach believes it has available to serve the EZ Grow facility, and I believe you stated that you would have decades of reserves available.  Is that correct?

MR. LEWIS:  [Audio dropout].  Sorry, were you able to hear that response?

MS. PERSAD:  No, I wasn't.  Were you saying anything?

MR. LEWIS:  Sorry, my microphone was off.

MS. PERSAD:  Okay.

MR. LEWIS:  We believe that we have enough gas from our gas wells to serve the customer for many years.  The onshore wells have a relatively shallow decline, and our system is connected to our offshore, the natural gas system offshore of Lake Erie, which has larger and additional volumes that can be brought into the system in years to come.

We also have a connection where we sell gas currently to Enbridge in the Tillsonburg area off -- I believe we have to compress to around 700 pounds there, and we believe that that is a -- Enbridge has a large gas supply in that area that ultimately could be looked at to bring gas into the system and down to the various delivery points to EPCOR's utility in the future if needed.

MS. PERSAD:  Okay.  Thank you.  So, related to that, then, I accept that it appears that you have quite a bit of confidence in the amount of reserves that are available to ultimately serve the customer in this case.  However, if for some reason Clearbeach cannot deliver that gas, what would the plan be; what with the alternate plan be?

MR. McCRANK:  Ms. Persad, if I can answer that, I'm going to circle back to your earlier question to me, as well, and answer it because they are sort of tied together.  So I think that the -- again, the answer to 1(c) from ENGLP saying that the nearest asset is 7 kilometers away, subject to checking maps, is likely a -- it was EPCOR's understanding.

The 2 kilometres of pipeline that you are referring to in the second option -- as I read it again here, it triggers some memory -- connecting to the Walsingham Station.  The Walsingham station is further away from the EZ Grow location.  That's an option.  It is again what I was trying to refer to is that, if we were to increase the gas supply in that area, we could potentially be able to serve EZ Grow with the necessary volume of gas they require, but that option required some significant upgrades to Walsingham, as we were told from Enbridge, at a much higher cost and a much longer timeframe to be able to achieve that option.

So, again, as we I think we alluded to in this response, we've reviewed several options.  The option that we went with was the lowest cost, quickest option to serve the customer.

If Clearbeach doesn't have the well gas to be able to serve the customer, the first option is that we would be looking to Clearbeach or Lagasco to get its volumes from elsewhere in the system, and I think that is what Scott had alluded to earlier, is that it is connected to the larger Clearbeach and Lagasco system if the Clearbeach wells were not sufficient enough.

If that wasn't sufficient, we would be into looking at the options that would be much more high cost, either reinforcing the ENGLP system, which potentially could also include reinforcing the Walsingham regulating station that has Enbridge partial ownership.  And that would be the option we would be looking at to try to serve the customer, some significant system reinforcements.

MS. ROBINSON:  Yes, but, just to be further -- just to add to that a little bit more, when we were looking at this line and contracting on a gas-supply perspective in terms of was their sufficient supply, we were able to get very comfortable that the asset would be used and useful for the lifetime.  And that was by virtue of the fact that the Clearbeach wells did in fact connect to the offshore production where we received every year and independent analysis.  If there was sufficient production -- I believe it is for a 20-year lifecycle.  We have another interface with Clearbeach, the Clearbeach group of customers at the Lakeside where we were already in receipt of the independent reserve report.

So, with the combination of the independent reserve report and the fact that that independent reserve report ultimately did feed these wells, we felt confident that we would have sufficient gas supply to meet the customer requirements for the duration of the contract.

MS. PERSAD:  Thank you.  That is very helpful.  And so, vis-à-vis the customer, would that arrangement if for some reason -- again it may be remote, but if for some reason Clearbeach is not able to supply at some point and EPCOR has to look at these other costly, time-consuming alternatives in order to serve the customer this additional gas, who takes the risk in that scenario?

Is it the customer who is taking the risk?

Has the customer acknowledged this risk and accepted it?

MS. ROBINSON:  I don't know.  To be honest, we didn't go down that path because we felt comfortable that -- they are a rate 3 customer -- we would be able to supply the gas under the arrangements that we had put in place, so we didn't explore the "what ifs," Ms. Persad.

As you can imagine, there are always possibilities of force majeure and other items that could occur, but we didn't go sort of down those, all those various paths, because we felt confident that we had done our due diligence in terms of ensuring there was sufficient volume to supply the customer.

Ultimately, the customer has an alternate source of supply in the event of force majeure, which [audio dropout] oil.  That is not the preferred route, but we didn't pursue sort of longer term every "what if" scenario, to be clear.

MS. PERSAD:  Thank you.  That is very helpful.  So I just have one more area of questioning, and that is related to the form of certificate.  And I realize that we've already explored and discussed the fact that EPCOR's view is that there is no certificate required necessarily, and, you know, it may ultimately be that the OEB decides that it does not need to issue a certificate in this case.

However, in the event that a certificate is issued or needs to be issued either to EPCOR or to Clearbeach, I'd like to just explore what the form of that certificate would be.  Here, I'm referring to EPCOR's original application and the fact that they provided a suggested form of certificate.  And I believe this is at the last page of -- yes, that's it.

So, in the event that the OEB ultimately determines that a certificate ought to be issued to EPCOR in this case, is this the form of certificate that EPCOR is proposing?

And does EPCOR believe that this is the correct form of certificate?

MS. ROBINSON:  No, I believe this is our initial submission back in August when we initially thought that we would be constructing the pipeline.  So, subsequent to that, Clearbeach ultimately constructed the pipeline.  So what we are proposing would be a limited Certificate of Public Convenience in the event that EPCOR does in fact own -- ultimately acquire and own the pipeline to traverse through the Enbridge franchise.  So it would look like a limited certificate of public convenience and necessity.

MS. PERSAD:  Okay.  So, just to explore that a little bit, would you then take this form and amended to include the word "limited"?  Like, I'm not looking for a legal opinion.  I'm just looking for, you know, what would EPCOR ultimately be proposing for the form of certificate.  Would EPCOR offer a new form, you know, with amended wording to include the word "limited" in that case?

MS. ROBINSON:  I believe we would amend the certificate to be clear that it is a limited certificate, that it's simply to identify the geographical area of the pipeline, and we would also clarify that the line is simply to traverse the Enbridge franchise and, to be clear, it is not to serve any  customers along the Enbridge portion of the line.

MS. PERSAD:  Okay.  So you would be looking for all of that language to be included --

MS. ROBINSON:  Yes.

MS. PERSAD:  -- in the wording of the certificate?  Okay.  Then let's look at the geographical part of the wording in the certificate.  So, what EPCOR has put here, and I appreciate it may have changed since it was filed, is that there are two areas included here.  And, obviously, this keys off of wording that's in the legacy certificates for both Enbridge and EPCOR that exist, but the first bullet is "Concession 7 lots 2 and 3."  And if I compare that description to the map the, you know, any of the four maps I suppose that were provided by EPCOR in their appendices.  It appears to me that the new pipeline is only constructed on lot 2; is that correct?  I am wondering about the reference to lot 3.  Why there is a reference to lot 3?

MS. ROBINSON:  Yeah, I don't have the kind of the detailed lots to know which would be amended or not.  I apologize.

MS. PERSAD:  Perhaps we could bring up, as page 172, PDF page 172 of your appendices that were filed and that shows a map of the pipeline with the lot number clearly set out.  There we go.   Right.  And I'm not sure if this map is, you know, completely representative of what exists in the field but it appears from this map that the new pipeline is constructed entirely on lot 2 of Concession 7?

MS. ROBINSON:  It would appear so, and my recollection is -- I can't see lot 4.  I don't have my glasses, I'm sorry.  Yeah.  I believe the original line went straight down from Maricann and then as we got easements we adjusted the pipeline accordingly, so I'm speculating perhaps that's the reason why the description of the lot was adjusted somewhat.

MS. PERSAD:  Okay.  So that is the case, if it is the case that the pipeline is located entirely on lot 2 then, you know, all that EPCOR would need or Clearbeach would need in the description of the geographic area that the certificate covers, they would only that area in lot 2?

MS. ROBINSON:  I believe that's correct.

MS. PERSAD:  Okay.  Thank you for that clarification and I believe that brings me to the end of my questions.  So thank you, panel.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER SWORD:  Thank you, Ms. Persad.  And thank you, Enbridge.  We will turn to Ontario Energy Board Staff.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Murray


MR. MURRAY:  Thank you, Commissioner Sword.  Perhaps we could pull up the appendices again, and I would like to look at page 171 the appendices and the maps, if we can pull that up.  I think we have seen this map before but I just want to make sure I understand where everything is correctly.  So, this entire red line on this page, this is what Clearbeach built, that's the pipeline, the preferred line, that we were talking about.  It's entire red line on that on this map; correct?

MR. LEWIS:  That's correct.

MR. MURRAY:  And none of this pipeline in red existed before the fall of 2024; correct?

MR. LEWIS:  None of it existed prior to 2024.

MR. MURRAY:  Okay.  And the 2 segments marked 1 and 2 are parts that are in Enbridge's service territory; correct?

MR. LEWIS:  I believe so, I don't know specifically where the territories delineate.

MR. MURRAY:  Is there anything we can check to verify that now?

MS. PERSAD:  If I could offer, there is an existing CPCN for Enbridge Gas on the record.  In the appendices from EPCOR at page 165 to 167, so that's the current CPCN for Enbridge Gas in Norfolk County.  And if you go all the way to the last page, Concession 7 is the first bullet.  So this is the area that Enbridge has, if that is helpful.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you, Ms. Persad.  Perhaps we could go back 171 of the PDF.  I guess what I was hoping to focus on is -- so there's that part labeled 1, part labeled 2, and then there's sort of the unlabeled part that goes along Concession Road No. 7, and I'm trying to ascertain is that -- I assume that pipeline is in Enbridge's territory because it's part of certificate that's been requested, but I was just hoping that you   could confirm that?

MS. ROBINSON:  Concession 7 along the bottom is the EPCOR franchise.

MR. MURRAY:  So is that line on the bottom, is that in EPCOR's --

MS. ROBINSON:  Correct.  Where I don't know is if the franchise area is right at 7 or further up that line, March line number 2.  But to be clear, the one on the bottom, the perpendicular one that runs along Concession 7 and into the EZ Grow facility is in the EPCOR franchise.

MR. MURRAY:  So, where exactly does this preferred line connect to EPCOR's system on this map?

MS. ROBINSON:  At the bottom.

MR. MURRAY:  Okay.  Can you be more specific, like, at the bottom-left, the bottom-right, like, at the EZ Grow farm?

MR. LEWIS:  Do you where does it connect physically into our system?

MR. MURRAY:  Yes.

MR. LEWIS:  At the regulating station at the EZ Grow site.

MR. MURRAY:  So, before it gets to the EZ Grow facility and the EZ Grow property it's not an EPCOR system?

MS. ROBINSON:  It is an EPCOR system along the bottom of Concession 7 of the franchise area.

MR. MURRAY:  So then why are you asking for a certificate for something that's -- when you're -- that part, which is in your service area?

MS. ROBINSON:  Because I think, as I mentioned earlier, sort of practically speaking this line doesn't have a clear demarcation area between the systems, so there isn't -- you will a meter -- or a station that we would meter the gas.  And that went to part of our thinking why we wanted to own it, because it is partly in our franchise and there is no clear demarcation on the system itself.

MR. MURRAY:  At any point before going to EZ Grow's facility does -- well, I will the gas coming from the Preferred Line, does it intermingle with other system gas?  Or is it always segregated?

MS. ROBINSON: It is segregated.  But we do have other lines, correct, Darren?  Running down Concession 7?


MR. MURRAY:  No, but there isn't a situation where what I will call the molecules from the Preferred Line intermix with molecules that come from other sources?  They are segregated the entire way before it hits EZ Grow's property?

MS. ROBINSON:  Correct.  They do not commingle; they are adjacent to each other along that Concession 7.

MR. MURRAY:  If it is possible, I was hoping to pull up the OM Limited Partnership decision.  Is it possible to pull that up?  It is referred to in the June 12 letter in footnote no. 2.

In this decision, the applicant argued that a 3.7 kilometre pipeline was part of a natural gas production and gathering operation system.  Is that correct?

MR. LEWIS:  I believe so.

MR. MURRAY:  And if we could turn to page 3 of the decision, I would like to -- I am going to read from the bottom paragraph, where it reads:
"The OEB does not accept that the pipeline is a gathering system, and finds instead that it will be providing distribution services.  OMLP has clearly indicated both the pipeline and the tie-in system are required to serve the greenhouse facility.  There is no mention of new wells being integrated into the system with this pipeline.  The sole purpose of the pipeline appears to be to distribute gas to the greenhouse facility.  The OEB therefore finds the New Pipeline provides a distribution function."

Did I read that quote correctly?

MR. LEWIS:  Yes.

MR. MURRAY:  And so both in the OMLP decision and in this case, the line in question is carrying gas to a tie-in station located on the property of the customer.  Is that not correct?

MR. LEWIS:  Yes.

MR. MURRAY:  And you would agree with me that in the OM decision, the OEB found that a section 8 certificate was required for the pipeline portion of that project?

MR. LEWIS:  Yes.

MR. MURRAY:  I would like to move on to another topic now, and I just want to make sure I understand your argument about this, the need for a section 8 certificate.  I want to fully understand your argument.

Now EPCOR says a certificate is not needed because this is a production line.  Correct?

MS. ROBINSON:  Correct.

MR. MURRAY:  And as this has already been discussed at length, the pipeline in question is not like a pipeline directly from a well to EPCOR's system, but rather it is an extension of the existing supply line to the wells of the Maricann Group.  Correct?

MS. ROBINSON:  Correct, it is an extension of the line.

MR. MURRAY:  And the line for which it is an extension, it is an extension of, that, what I will call the original Maricann line, did require and does have a section 8?

MR. LEWIS:  Correct.

MR. MURRAY:  Are you aware or can you help everyone here today, are you able to point us to any previous precedents where there has been an extension of a supply line that has been found to be a production line?

MR. KING:  So I am going to jump in:  I don't know what that means, to be honest.

MR. MURRAY:  Well, the original line to the Maricann station --

MR. KING:  Yes.


MR. MURRAY:  -- is a supply line?

MR. KING:  It is a line covered by a CPCN, yes.

MR. MURRAY:  I guess I could phrase it another way:  Are you aware of any situations where a line, an extension of a line covered by a certificate, has been found not to require a certificate?


So the original line requires a certificate, and you have extended that line and all of a sudden that extension part does not require a certificate.  Are you able to point to any sort of decisions where the Board has taken that view?

MR. KING:  I am not sure that the fact scenario is not entirely unique, period.  It's not that this is a situation where in other cases the extension has been forced to receive a CPCN.  This situation has just never arisen, as far as I can tell.  In other words, this is not a case where we are doing something contra to previous practice; this is just a novel case.


MR. MURRAY:  Could we go to the June 12 filing, and I would like to direct your attention to footnote no. 3.  If we go to the third footnote?  And I will read from the third footnote:
"While not a perfect analogy, EPCOR holds CPCNs, which are limited to a pipeline that traverses certain municipalities, to the Municipality of West Grey, the Township of Chatsworth and the Municipality of Brockton, without serving any customers:  EB 2018-0263.  The pipeline was not a producer line and a leave to construct was required."

So based upon what you've said in this footnote, would you agree with me that there is precedent for the OEB requiring a certificate, even in cases where the pipeline is not serving customers in the municipality?

MS. ROBINSON:  I am not sure I am fully understanding, but we did require a CPCN in the instance in serving our South Bruce franchise to traverse the Enbridge system.

MR. MURRAY:  But you would agree there's precedent.  So, even if you are not serving any customers in a specific municipality, you still may need a CPCN?  There is --

MS. ROBINSON:  A limited CPCN, I agree.

MR. MURRAY:  Yes.

MS. ROBINSON:  Yes.

MR. MURRAY:  Okay.  And would you also agree with me that the Clearbeach, or the Preferred Line will no longer be a producer line once it's transferred to and operated by EPCOR?

MS. ROBINSON:  I don't know the answer to that.  Richard?


MR. KING:  I mean, I think we will make that submission in argument, the nature of the line.  And the essence of our argument will be what is the nature of this line?  Is it somehow magically changed from a production line because it is an extension of a portion of a line that is covered by a CPCN?  Does that automatically transform it into something that is of a nature that requires a CPCN?  That is all, I think, what will we address in argument.

MR. MURRAY:  Perhaps I can take a step back.  In the footnote, you reference a pipeline not being a producer line.  What did you mean by saying "a producer line" in that footnote?

MS. ROBINSON:  We were applying as a distributor.

MR. MURRAY:  It has no well gas.

MS. ROBINSON:  Sorry, we were applying as a distributor.  It connects to the Enbridge system at Dornoch, and traverses those counties into the EPCOR franchise in the Southern Bruce area.  So it is coming off the Enbridge, one of the Enbridge mainlines.

MR. MURRAY:  But what does EPCOR consider a producer line?  You have referenced there "a producer line."  What is a producer line?

MR. KING:  A producer line -- I cannot find the reference, but a producer line is a line that flows well gas to a gas distribution utility, full stop.

MR. MURRAY:  No matter who owns the line?

MR. KING:  Yes, no matter who owns the line.


MR. MURRAY:  I am going to move on.  I want to understand a bit more about the implications of the proposed transfer of the Preferred Line from Clearbeach to EPCOR.  Can we pull up EPCOR's response to Enbridge interrogatory 3(b) from January 7.  Now, in this question, EPCOR was asked:
"Does the transfer of the asset to ENGLP to supply gas to EZ Grow reference mean that there will be financial compensation given to Clearbeach and that the cost of which will be recovered in rates charged by EPCOR to its customers?"

And the answer to the question is "Yes."

Can you help me understand how EPCOR's current argument that the Clearbeach line is a production line is consistent with this answer here, that these production line assets will go into rates?


MS. ROBINSON:  Yeah, I'm not sure how to answer that, to be honest.  It was a capital asset that we were required to put in place to serve the customer.  We completed the profitability or the economic test required, and determined that the rates charged under rate 3 to EZ Grow satisfied all the construction and O&M costs and didn't require a contribution.  That is the process we went through.

MR. MURRAY:  Maybe I will rephrase my question.  What I find is a bit inconsistent is you are saying this doesn't relate to the distribution; this doesn’t relate to supply gas it’s a producer line.  It's a production line.  But Then why is it being put into distribution assets?

MS. ROBINSON:  I think whether we reconstructed it under our own capital plan or paid a contribution to a third party to construct, it forms part of the assets required to serve the customer.

MR. MURRAY:  So you agree it forms part of the distribution assets to supply customers?


MS. ROBINSON:  I don't know if the official definition is distribution or producer.  I know what you are getting at.  I think this is a unique situation, so I don't think that that answer is sort of cut and dry.

MR. MURRAY:  And I just want to make sure I understood something earlier when you had the questions from Commissioner Duff.  Do I have it right that this pipeline is already in your rate base?
MR. KING:  Yes, That's correct.  The expenditure was made in the test year.  The in-service -- pardon me, the expenditure in the bridge year, the in-service in the test year, as approved through the OEB.  

I do want to, I guess it's interesting to talk about what -- the ownership of the pipeline.  I feel that we are getting, this part of your question, the ownership, is it the distributor owning it, is it the producer owning it.  

I think it's important to point out that there is a portion of this investment that will not be owned by EPCOR.  The upgrades to the Mericann station that will require akin to an aid to construct in order to enable this production, or enable this flow of gas to serve the customer is also part of the project that is part of the rate base now.  The portion of the pipeline that we would prefer to own is part of that expansion.  

I don't know if that helps at all.  There is a portion that we won't own that is the producer-owned part of the asset, the Maricann station and the upgrades that they made to the Maricann station that will be part of the distribution rate base that won't be owned by the distributor, but was required to enable the flow of gas to the customer.

MR. MURRAY:  That helps, but it still doesn't answer my question.  Why are these assets in rate base if you don't even own them at this point?

MR. KING:  Because we've it's akin to -- I think it is akin to an aid to construct.  This was required and as Ms. Robinson mentioned, there was a property index calculation done, which determined that there was no contribution required from the customer.  So accordingly the utility was able to make the investment, and recover the costs through rates.


MR. MURRAY:  Perhaps I will move on. I have a couple, I’ll call mostly clarifying questions related to the June 12th filing.  If I could ask first that we turn to page 3 of the filing.  I like to focus on the last paragraph of the June 12th filing, page 3.  If we could scroll down a little bit more.  

I'm going to start reading from about halfway through the paragraph where it reads:
"The potential transfer of the preferred line from Clearbeach to ENGLP was unique in that ENGLP does not typically own production.  More importantly, it meant ENGLP would own distribution pipelines within Enbridge's services area."

I want to focus on that second sentence where there is a reference to distribution pipeline.  Is that the correct term there?  Is that what you mean, "distribution pipeline"?

MR. McCRANK:  I think that would be how we would approach that.  We close the transaction and we own the pipeline.  We will treat it like any other pipeline within  our distribution system and maintain it, operate it, leak-survey it.  I think We are kind of thinking about it from that standpoint.  It’s a distribution pipeline at that stage.

MR. MURRAY:  I guess the question I have is, how, based upon the closing of the transaction, how does something that happens before the transaction is closed is a production pipeline, all of a sudden changes the of what it is to a distribution pipeline, just merely by the transfer of ownership?


MR. McCRANK:  I would answer that in the context that ENGLP is a distributor and Clearbeach is a producer.

MS. ROBINSON:  And to Darren's point, we were thinking of it from an operational perspective.  We would treat it like any other pipeline in our distribution system in terms of operating and maintaining and leak-surveying and everything else that we do with the other pipelines within our system.  So that was the lens in which we were thinking about it.  It was more of an operational lens as opposed to a kind of legal definition lens that we would in fact treat this pipeline as we would any other pipeline in terms of safe and reliable service.

MR. MURRAY:  I'd like to now talk more about the potential transfer of ownership and if I'd understand correctly the transfer of ownership that EPCOR still requires certain regulatory approvals; correct?  The pipeline is still with Clearbeach and you haven't acquired it yet?

MS. ROBINSON:  That's correct.  We have not acquired the pipeline.

MR. MURRAY:  And so what has to happen in order for you to acquire the pipeline?

MS. ROBINSON:  I don't think there is anything from a regulatory perspective or from an authority perspective that requires to happen.  We have -- Clearbeach has received all of the easements necessary to construct the pipeline. There was an environmental requirement, my recollection is, that Clearbeach received to cross a creek.  So all of those were – that Clearbeach put in place prior to constructing the pipeline.

MR. MURRAY:  So is there a reason why it hasn't closed yet?  Are you waiting for the outcome of this proceeding?

MS. ROBINSON:  Yes.  Our view is it would be helpful to have a CPCN if we were to own as a distributor a pipeline in another utility’s franchise area.


MR. MURRAY:  But outside of this proceeding there is no other issues or hurdles that is preventing this transaction from moving forward?

MS. ROBINSON:  That is my understanding.

MR. MURRAY:  My last couple questions are mostly directed towards Clearbeach.  I think I know the answer to the first question, but perhaps I could ask you to expand on it and that is:  Why did you start construction of this new line or the preferred line without a certificate?

MR. McCRANK:  We believe that whether we needed a certificate to serve an end-use customer, not a utility.  We have over 27 connections with utilities.  We have never been required to obtain a Certificate of Public Convenience and Necessity for any of them.  That was our thought behind why we did not pursue one for supplying EPCOR at another location.

MR. MURRAY:  But you would agree with me that this line is a little, I think it has been phrased by EPCOR as unique.  Like it is not a simple situation where a well is connecting directly to the distributor; there is a certificate, essentially part of the original line, so it is not what I will call -- it may be different factually than a number of those other certificates; would you agree?

MR. KING:  Sorry, I'm going to interject.  We are going to address this in argument, but the record is pretty clear, right?  There is no contractual nexus between Clearbeach and EZ Grow.  And also in the record is the fact that this is a supply to EPCOR, and that EZ Grow is a customer of EPCOR as a rate 3 customer and they are supplied both through this preferred pipeline, but also through the incumbent pipeline.  This is not like a situation of Maricann or, for example, the Greenfield energy centre where you have gas coming to a customer that has nothing to do with the appellant.


MR. McCRANK:  To be helpful, I could maybe add that there are other areas, maybe through the evolution of production and whatnot in the province, but there are other areas where there are field line customers with Enbridge.  Clearbeach has some and I believe Medilor has some as well, where the gas is delivered directly to the customer, but the customer is an Enbridge customer.  And there is a field line agreement with Enbridge for those types of customers.  

There are various different scenarios of where a producer delivers gas, some directly to customers through an Enbridge meter in a system in an immediate area that we have several wells that connect directly to and flow directly into EPCOR system at various points, and then some are -- some have a station, some just flow rate right from the well, from an individual well into the system, so there is various different ways that our connections to the utilities occur.

MR. MURRAY:  I guess I would say that the evidence we've heard is that for all these other, what I'll call production lines, there are no PCNs but what steps did Clearbeach take to satisfy itself that a section 8 certificate was required?  For example, did you, at any point, reach out to the Board, or Board Staff or through the IRE process to seek, sort of, directions or guidance?

MR. LEWIS:  We did reach out to Board Staff in/around January of 2024 to -- so, sort of the sequence of events is we were approached by Maricann, who was approached by EZ Grow looking for additional volumes of gas, Maricann brought, you know, said can you help these guys out, they knew we had gas available.  We arranged a meeting with Board Staff to look at what that might look at, you know, they were mentioning that it would be a bypass and, you know, we were thinking maybe we could supply the incremental volume the customer, they said it would be bypassed, and it was a lot easier to supply directly to the utility, and that is the option we pursued after that meeting that we had with Board Staff.

MR. MURRAY:  Sorry, can we just go into a bit more -- so you had a meeting with Board Staff.  What did you ask at that meeting?

MR. LEWIS:  We were asking them about whether it was whether we could serve the customer, what the type of application we required to serve the customer, and that's the type of information that was determined that it was a lot easier to provide the gas to the utility, EPCOR, they're certificate in the area and it wouldn't be considered a bypass of EPCOR at that point.  So, that is sort of the conversation that we had.  We did not -- I don't recall that we got into the nuances of -- you know, at no point in the meetings, to my knowledge, was it indicated that we would need a CPCN to serve the utility or that we would need some other form of approval.

MR. MURRAY:  Did you ask if you would?

MR. LEWIS:  Our conversations were more around serving the customer directly and what would be required there, and then when we had sort of determined the easiest thing to supply the utility, that is sort of where the conversion --

MR. MURRAY:  I just want to put up one more thing on sort of the sequence of events that led to sort of where we are today.  So, I understand there was an application filed in August for this certificate and that was by EPCOR.  When that application was filed, was the intention for Clearbeach to build the line or was it at that point EPCOR intending to build the line themselves or contract with somebody like AECON to build the line for them?

MS. ROBINSON:  Yeah, I don't know.  We can't recall, Darren and I can't recall, the exact sequence of events because there was a number of conversations in terms of, you know, requiring the CPCN on EPCOR's behalf as per our initial application, so I don't actually recall sort of that sequence of events.  But, presumably, initially we applied for the CPCN in order to construct it and then ultimately Clearbeach constructed the line.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you very much, those are my questions.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER SWORD:  Thank you, OEB Staff.  Commissioner Cass, did you have an additional question that you wanted to ask at this point?
Further Questions by the Board


COMMISSIONER CASS:  I did, thank you.  I just wanted, if I can, to clarify the term "well gas" that I've been hearing.  And it is referred to in the June 12th filing as well.

So, panel, maybe I am overly simplistic, but it strikes me that natural gas essentially originates from wells, so when you speak of well gas what is it particularly that you mean by that term?

MS. ROBINSON:  It's a good question and, as you can see, thinking has evolved -- well gas is essentially gas that is within or adjacent to, the way I think about it, our distributor as opposed to wells that may be in Alberta, or maybe in New York, and then come up.  So, I would think of it as resident or adjacent to resident to the distribution system.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER SWORD:  Thank you.  And just on that note, does the treatment the gas receives at the Maricann station, maybe it was my words that were described, that making it sort of gas, quality gas, dehydration and the characteristics of what is suitable for the end use customer; does that change the characteristic then of the gas that is being serviced?  Because it's ready for end use after the Maricann station, is it not?

MR. LEWIS:  It would be the utility pipeline quality gas that does occur in a number of other areas prior to delivery to the utility.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER SWORD:  Sure, okay.  Thank you.  Commissioner Duff --  okay, Mr. King, I'm sure you will cover this in perhaps your legal but I just wanted to -- or you could address it now on that, and it would reference to EB-2017-0289.  One of the lines from that decision was classifies it as a distribution line in the findings and if you could indicate how that then -- the line into it is a distribution line and then how does that inform or influence the characteristic of the line as it leaves?

MR. KING:  Oh --

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER SWORD:  Perhaps not now, sir?


MR. KING:  Sure.  In argument, sure.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER SWORD:  Yeah, absolutely.  If I could ask a question, sorry, how long would you consider, Mr. King, for redirect?  I was just considering a break.

MR. KING:  Five, ten minutes.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER SWORD:  Okay.  We'll proceed with that and we will have a break afterwards, and pending other procedural issues.  So,  Mr. King?
Re-Examination by Mr. King


MR. KING:  I think I only have three questions.  The first one probably is for you, Mr. McCrank, and I think it was questioning from the commissioners around the question of why would EPCOR own the asset.  And I think you and Ms. Robinson said there may be benefits of allowing partial ownership, we had considered owning part of the line, at least the part within the segment, within EPCOR's franchise area, because there may be other customers that we could serve off of that line and it was impractical because there would have to be a demarcation point between the franchise areas, so ultimately you decided to pursue a potential acquisition of the whole thing.  And then you also talked about EPCOR wanting to own and maintain that line.  Are there others reasons why EPCOR might want to own this particular line?

MR. MCCRANK:  Again, I think we looked at it, as Ms. Robinson alluded to earlier, from an operations perspective and, with that lens, a couple of points may be already stated but it does cross our service area and we are in the business of operating and owning pipelines in our service area, and so that made sense to us.  As Ms. Robinson alluded to, hard to have a de-embarkation point partway through a pipeline from an ownership standpoint, and when we talk about ownership we are talking about the safe and reliable operation of it, ensuring that public safety is top priority and keeping the gas in the pipe.  There are system benefits to -- this part of the system is a far-reaching part of our system.  I think, as I alluded to earlier, the other options available to us are very costly to reinforce the system to try to increase the pressures.  At the end of the day, this ends in being a story about system pressures.

At the end of the system, a massive load, EZ Grow will draw down the system.  It's very beneficial to us to have an injection-of-gas point and, again, it just -- looking at it from that lens, it made sense for us to say "We should take ownership of this pipeline, ensuring its integrity, its life, because it is going to be a very important asset to us, going forward."

MR. KING:  And just sort of in terms of the system benefits, and to maybe pick up on Mr. Murray's questioning around the segregation of gas to this customer from the preferred pipeline, EZ Grow uses gas both from the preferred pipeline and from your -- let's call it an incumbent existing pipeline.  Correct?

MR. McCRANK:  Correct.

MR. KING:  And does the ability to own and operate that preferred line provide any system benefits to the incumbent line or a customer served by the incumbent line?

MR. McCRANK:  Not necessarily.  I think that, maybe to answer your question, I think what you are perhaps asking, certainly there is a benefit to using the gas coming from the Clearbeach line, first.  And we do have that set up within the regulating station at EZ Grow.  We have it set such that we will consume from the Clearbeach line first, then the system gas or the ENGLP.  And the purpose of that again is to reinforce the pressures within that part of the system.  That's the objective of doing that.

Certainly I think, you know, again, ownership of the line allows us to ensure integrity of it.  If we can guarantee ourselves the integrity of that line, we know that we have that supply from that portion, and it reinforces then the strategy.

It increases, I guess, our confidence, not that Clearbeach wouldn't do a good job of doing that, but we are in the business of operating and maintaining and owning pipelines and so, looking at it from that lens, it just made sense to us to try to own it.  And that may result in us getting a better reliable output at that station.

MR. KING:  Thank you.  And then my final question, if I could ask Mr. Hesselink to bring up the Enbridge submission, so their argument of January 22.  And it is the last page.

And, as a prelude, I just wasn't sure why we were talking about Enbridge's ability to serve.  I thought the record was pretty clear that you first looked at serving the customer through the existing EPCOR system, and that proved to be expensive and you had -- then option 2 was to consider Enbridge.  And I just wasn't quite sure why we were disputing or talking about the distance to the Enbridge system, because I thought Enbridge had clarified the record on their own in their argument.

So could you just read the sentence starting towards the end of the fourth line, where it says "As long as."  No, sorry, the last sentence of paragraph 7.

MR. McCRANK:  "While we have," you want me to read that?

MR. KING:  Sure.

MR. McCRANK:  "While we have existing facilities 
closer than seven kilometres, Enbridge Gas is not in a position to provide additional supply to EZ Grow Farms without incurring system reinforcement costs."

MR. KING:  Those are all my redirect questions.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER SWORD:  Thank you, Mr. King.  Right now, it's 11:30 of the clock, Eastern.  We are going to take a break for lunch, and we are going to return at -- does an hour or an hour and a half sound reasonable?  Okay.  Well,  we will return at 1:00 o'clock Eastern.

We have people on the line from other time zones, so just to be aware of that.  And for those that are on the line, I suggest you keep your connection; just put your phone and microphone on mute, to ensure the connection remains.

So we will reconvene with submissions at 1:00 o'clock.  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 11:28 a.m. 

--- On resuming at 1:06 p.m.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER SWORD:  Thank you, and welcome back from break.  We are going to start with -- are there any procedural matters, Mr. King or Mr. Budd --

MR. KING:  None.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER SWORD:  -- or Counsel Murray?  Okay, thank you.  And we have everyone remotely?  Yes?  Thank you.  We will start then, please, if we could, with EPCOR and your oral submission.

MR. KING:  Thank you.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER SWORD:  Mr. King, the floor is yours.

MR. KING:  Just before I get started --

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER SWORD:  Sorry.  One housekeeping detail:  If we could please for the court reporter's purposes state your name before you speak.  It may sound redundant each time you do, but, if you don't mind, please, just for the clarity, we are having some audio issues related to that.  Mr. King.

MR. KING:  Sure.  It's Richard King speaking.  Just before I get going, I know we are not to use acronyms, but I will use the phrase CPCN.  It is unavoidable.  And that is, for the court reporter, C-P-C-N.  And, I apologize, I am going to have to do a bit of reading.  I have written this out over the lunch break.
Closing Argument by Mr. King

I have divided the argument into four discrete topics, the first being bypass; the second being the issue of pipeline construction, before receiving a CPCN; the third being ownership of the pipeline; and then finally, at the end, the sort of purely legal argument, if I can call it that, to respond the questions and the line of questions from Commissioner Cass, namely the powers of the Board in what EPCOR is seeking here.

So, on bypass, I don't know what Enbridge and Board Staff will argue.  There was a first round of submissions, obviously, earlier this year, where both argued that the preferred pipeline, the Preferred Line, was bypass.  Enbridge argued it simply on the basis that it was being constructed in their service territory; OEB Staff said this is a bypass line but then went on to do the analysis and actually concluded that it was justified bypass.

For me, this is simple, cut and dried.  This is absolutely not bypass.  This is not the bypass.  Bypass in and of itself needs a customer seeking to avoid having to take supply from the incumbent utility.  That is not the case here.  If this were a bypass proceeding, there would be an opportunistic customer and a grumpy utility.  EZ Grow is not here is as an opportunistic customer, and this is not a question of an issue between EZ Grow and EPCOR.  And that has always been the case.

That has been the case since the meetings with Board Staff that Mr. Lewis referred to in designing this in a way that supply from the Preferred Line would be to EPCOR and not to the customer directly.  You can look at paragraph 1 of our application.  It said this pipeline was to enable ENGLP -- EPCOR -- to supply additional gas, ENGLP to supply additional gas to its existing customer.  And that's this situation.

Enbridge is not being bypassed because the customer isn't in Enbridge's service territory.  And EPCOR is not being bypassed.  The customer gets all of their gas from EPCOR, and they are a rate 3 customer.

I want to pick up on one point just to finish off the bypass issue.  Mr. Murray was asking questions that seemed to hint at:  Who really is supplying the customer here, given the technical configurations?  I'm not sure whether parties will go down that line of argument in order to argue that this is bypass or to say that this is a distribution line that should attract a Certificate of Public Convenience, a CPCN.

In our view, the Preferred Line does carry local well gas that is delivered to the station at EZ Grow, segregated from EPCOR's incumbent line.  That is established.  That is part of the record.  And there is no argument that the rationale behind this whole new producer line is the demand at EZ Grow.  But ENGLP already has assets at EZ Grow.  There is no relationship, commercial or contractual, between Clearbeach and EZ Grow:  The gas is supplied to EPCOR; EPCOR has the relationship with Clearbeach; EZ Grow is being served by EPCOR as a rate 3 customer, as I said.

If this were a successful bypass, the customer would not be taking service under a utility rate schedule.  And that is exactly what they are doing.  Not taking or avoiding service under a utility rate schedule is the essence of bypass.  This is just not bypass.  This is just not bypass, full stop.

Second, in terms of the issue of the pipeline being constructed before a CPCN has been received, I want to back up a little bit and zoom out, sort of level set about what happened.

There was a request from an existing customer for additional gas on a very short timeline.  EPCOR's first priority was to try to make that happen and not have the customer burn heating oil if possible.  EPCOR's first task was to consider whether they could expand their existing pipeline out to the customer, and that proved to be prohibitively expensive and too hard to do in the short timeline.  Enbridge, based on their clarification that they made in their submission and our discussions with Enbridge, made it clear that they couldn't meet that requirement, either.

A unique opportunity arose.  Utility became aware that there was excess supply on the Clearbeach network nearby, and they pursue that arrangement.  What is the outcome?  The customer got served with reliable utility-quality gas in a timely manner; it was done in the most cost-efficient way possible; the use of heating oil as a fuel was avoided.  And, with the help of OEB Staff, the arrangement was done with EPCOR as the purchaser of the local well gas from Clearbeach so that any bypass argument was avoided.  This was the best possible outcome.  It is an excellent outcome.

Let me talk a bit about the Municipal Franchises Act because it is a quirky old statute, to be honest.  Section 8 -- section 8 is the CPCN provision -- doesn't really contemplate, in my view, all the different pipeline scenarios that exist.  It works extremely well for a regular system expansion by a gas-distribution utility.  Right?

The Board applies its typical test.  It will look at the technical and financial capacity of the utility in order to build the line:  Are they technically able to do it; can they financially do it?  And it also allows them to assess the economic feasibility of that system expansion by a gas distributor.  Right?  It is your opportunity, if there is no leave to construct required, to say this is a rational expansion; it is the only element you have to get that particular construction before you in advance if you don't have the leave to construct.  That is how section 8 works in the normal course, easy.

For local gas producers, the OEB has not required CPCNs for production lines over the decades that these production line systems have been built.  That also, to me, makes sense.

If Mr. Lewis wants to build production lines here, there, and everywhere, it's not on the ratepayer, right, because ultimately he's going to have to bundle that cost try to sell it to a utility.  He's only compromising himself.  It's not really for the Board to say:  We need a CPCN to assess the economic feasibility.  Mr. Lewis is free to blow his brains out.  Right?

When else has a CPCN been required?  I'm going to say something a little bit interesting.  I have always viewed the CPCN as sort of the Board's safe harbour in situations where no leave to construct is required and there is an actual risk of system bypass.

What do I mean by that?  We cited the Greenfield Energy Centre case at footnote 3 of our June 12th responses.  You will recall that that was a situation where a very large, new gas-fired generator was being built in southwestern Ontario.  No leave to construct was required.  They conveniently had the Vector pipeline running across their property, and they were just going to tap into Vector, and Union Gas would never get that customer.

No leave to construct was required, so the only thing the Board had was section 8 of the Municipal Franchises Act, and the Board interpreted the Act in a way to say that a CPCN was required because that was the way the bypass issue got before the Board.  In the absence of that, that bypass issue never gets evaluated.

Same thing for the one line that Clearbeach has that is covered by a CPCN, or maybe it's the segment of your system that is covered by a CPCN.  That is your line to Maricann.  The Board decided that, for that purpose, for the purposes of that production line, we are going to require a CPCN on the same basis; right?  It allowed for the Board to consider the bypass question.  Section 8, in and of itself, is pretty brief.  It simply refers to:  "Works to supply natural gas."

And so, if I think about the case at Greenfield Energy Centre and I think about the Clearbeach line to Maricann, it seems to me that the Board has, in interpreting section 8, read in the words “supply natural gas to a customer” in section 8.  That is how the Board has interpreted section 8 and therefore required a CPCN.

That all logically actually hangs together, except that's not sort of the end of the story.  There are other unique scenarios that have arisen when the Board has not held true to that position, i.e. not held true to the fact that any line that supplies an end-use customer should have a CPCN.  

Mr. Lewis mentioned his field service customers, so these are, as I understand it, customers fed off of the Clearbeach network to end-users, homes, farms, et cetera in a utility's existing service area.  No CPCNs for that.  The Board does not require CPCNs for those, yet that is supply well gas, local well gas maybe is the better term, directly to a customer.  

It is sort of like, what do they call those?  Those transfer service agreements in the electricity sector?  And there is an arrangement between Clearbeach and Enbridge.  So that doesn't hold true to how the Board has applied section 8 of the Municipal Franchises Act.  

And still yet, the one and other flavour is the case of EPCOR's line through, let's call it, Grey County to get to its new gas distribution centre up in Bruce County.  In that case, a CPCN was issued to EPCOR for that line and it is basically a traversing line.  We have referred to it as a line that traverses.  It is a line that traverses through Enbridge's service area in order to supply Enbridge's new distribution system.  A CPCN is required, but there's actually not an end-use customer on the end of that line.  The Board granted a CPCN.  That is a little bit different because I think there was legal [dropout] required, it's a major, major law.  The leave to construct required and there is a CPCN as well.

So there are various flavours of pipelines, CPCN scenarios.  That is my point.  And in my view the application of section 8 of the Municipal Franchises Act doesn't always hang together perfectly neatly when you throw all of these different fact scenarios at it.  I think that's just a fact.

That said, it is clear to us that the preferred line is a production line regardless of who owns it.  It flows local well gas to a gas distribution utility.  That is the basic nature of this line and I will be honest in my submission, whether the fact that the gas is segregated from EPCOR's other system gas at the station whether, you know, this is an extension of a segment of the Clearbeach line that does have a CPCN is kind of irrelevant I think.  The technical considerations shouldn't matter.  The segment of the line that serves Maricann and has a CPCN is still a production line, but the reason to invoke the CPCN requirement is to guard against bypass, to read section 8 as, well, it must mean we need a CPCN here because we are supplying a customer, and that is legitimate.  I think that is worthy.  

If you didn't Clearbeach could pick off customers left, right and centre; right?  If you didn't have the CPCN requirement, that's not good for the utility, it's not good for the rational expansion of the gas system, the operation of the system, nobody is served by that.

Ultimately this production line, the preferred line, is still just flowing local well gas.  The well gas is being purchased by EPCOR.  EPCOR purchases local well gas from Clearbeach at many points on the EPCOR system.  This is just another point of supply, that's it.

On the question of ownership, I think that the logical next question is if that is the case the question is:  Why, EPCOR, do you need to buy this bit of production line; right?  And sort of the knock-on question is:  By doing so does that change the nature of the line?  Because, to be honest, you don't own any other production line, like, you don't go beyond your connection point to own a production line.  

And I think Ms. Robinson said that owning the line, the preferred line, is not a necessity but it would be a nice-to-have.  And it would be a nice-to-have, I think, as the witnesses have suggested, because a segment of the preferred line runs through EPCOR's existing service territory, so maybe there is a couple of customers that you could serve off of it in your territory.  

And Mr. McCrank noted that, you know, EZ Grow is a very large customer of EPCOR.  They exist at the periphery of EPCOR's distribution system and it wouldn't be such a bad thing to have a hand in operating and maintaining that, I know that.  EPCOR has also been very clear, they don't want to cause any grief with Enbridge.  So if EPCOR does own the line it would be willing to accept a condition in the CPCN that states that no customer should be served off the preferred line.

And that brings me to my final topic, the pure legal argument.  And the question here that the Board has to determine is:  Can the Board issue a CPCN in these circumstances?  That's the question.  To whom and with what conditions attached to it?  

Our position is that the Board can issue the CPCN to EPCOR to take effect on the date of transfer of the assets to EPCOR.  That's our position.  I will address the first question.  How can the Board issue this CPCN given the pipeline is already completed and, as Commissioner Cass said, pipeline  construction is the trigger for section 8.  That is true.  And that is really, in my view, despite the first four hours of today, that is really the only key question in this proceeding, quite frankly.  

Here is the argument:  The Board is a statutory administrative tribunal, and Canadian courts, in interpreting the authority of administrative bodies like yourself, have said that these bodies have both express jurisdiction, for which you look to the precise wording in the statute, as well as implied jurisdiction, what is known by jurisdiction by necessary implication.  And I will cite you APCO case, because every good OEB proceeding has a citation to the APCO case, the 2006 Supreme Court of Canada.  I'll also cite in 1989 Bell Canada.  But that doctrine of necessary implication basically means that a tribunal should construe their authority to include all powers which are practically necessary for the accomplishment of the object intended to be secured by the regulatory regime.

Now, we know the Board can issue CPCNs and we also know that one of the key objectives of the CPCN regime is to guard against bypass.  It's our submission that if EPCOR takes ownership of the preferred line, the Board's objects are best served by issuing a CPCN to EPCOR that restricts EPCOR's ability to serve any customer off of that portion of the preferred line in Enbridge's service territory.  

To be clear, no CPCN is required if ownership remains with Clearbeach.  

I'm also saying it's our submission that the transfer of ownership, ownership of the preferred line by EPCOR, does not trigger a CPCN, does not mandate a CPCN, but we are saying the Board has authority to issue a CPCN and there are good reasons for doing so, because it assists the Board meet their statutory objectives and the underlying objectives of the CPCN, namely bypass.  This was the situation in the EPCOR line that runs through Grey County; right?  It is something I think Enbridge in their argument hinted at.  I think, if you look at the last paragraph and the last sentence of paragraph 6 of their original first argument in this proceeding, they say:
"As long as the CPCN rights within Norfolk County that are the subject of this application are limited to providing additional gas supply to EZ Grow farms, there should be limited impact on Enbridge Gas' existing ratepayers given the nature of Enbridge Gas' facilities in this area."

I think it is useful for Enbridge.  I think having a regulatory instrument that demarcates this line and says it is owned by a utility that is not serving customers in this area is useful.  It serves EPCOR's interest.  I think having a regulatory instrument serves the Board's interest.  And that's it.

And I guess, finally, obviously section 23 of the Act gives the Board to the authority to issue any or impose any condition on an order of the Board that it considers proper.  So, that is my argument on the pure legal questions.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER SWORD:  Commissioner Duff?  Did you --

COMMISSIONER DUFF:  Yes.  I am at a slight disadvantage; I don't have the transcript in front of me.  But your very last sentence about section 23 of the OEB Act, perhaps you could elaborate a little bit on that, please.

MR. KING:  Someone pulled up a, you know, the standard CPCN on the screen this morning.  It's not much to look at, right?  It's a pretty plain, one-page document.

Section 23 of the OEB Act allows the Board -- I was trying to speak slowly.  It says:
"The Board in making an order may impose such conditions as it considers proper, and an order may be general or particular in its application."

You can attach conditions to your order granting the CPCN; that's the point.  So conditions around not being able to serve customers, et cetera.

COMMISSIONER DUFF:  Thank you.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER SWORD:  Commissioner Cass?

COMMISSIONER CASS:  Mr. King, I have a question, and it actually relates to the document you just referred to.  I wonder if Mr. Hesselink might be able to get back, on the screen, that CPCN -- I will use the acronym -- that was part of the original application?  I realize that much has changed since that original application.  Thank you, there it is.

MR. KING:  Sorry, somewhere along the way in the record -- I can't remember through which, I think it was the first round of interrogatories? -- the second bullet was struck.

COMMISSIONER CASS:  So we have had a discussion about the geographical limitation that is in this form of certificate here.  We have had some discussion about a limitation regarding connection of customers by EPCOR in that geographical area.

I wonder if you can help me at all with just the general words of the certificate itself.  So the general words indicate that this is an approval to construct works to supply gas in this area, this geographical area.  But the one thing I think we know, and correct me if I am wrong, is there is no intention by EPCOR to construct anything in that area.

MR. KING:  That's right.

COMMISSIONER CASS:  So I am just wondering, can you help me with other words that the Board might use that would be consistent with the argument you are making in the Municipal Franchises Act?  I am just wondering if you can help me with that.

MR. KING:  I probably can't, to be honest, right?  I think that the words are the words, and the act section [audio dropout] the words, "construct works" is in there.  And that is the standard CPCN.

I think what I am asking is, and I think what is possible is to contextualize this with the decision and order, right?  And say "This is unusual.  This is why we are exercising our authority to grant this thing, notwithstanding that construction has already happened."

You can make it effective the date of transfer, if the transfer occurs.  That helps a bit, I guess, in terms of the question of who should it be issued to.  Right?  There is no need to issue it unless EPCOR takes ownership.  So that is maybe one of the two questions that you are probably grappling with to resolve.

But the wording in the first section is -- I think you can only address through context, whether that's the decision and order, the wording in the decision, or the second page that has conditions that are explanatory.

COMMISSIONER CASS:  Thank you.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER SWORD:  Commissioner Duff, you have a question?

COMMISSIONER DUFF:  Sorry, I have one more question from that.  So could somebody -- okay, I am looking at this.  This is what you -- on the screen right now is appendix -- I don't know, it is page 174 of 174 of the appendices.

But on June 12, I thought I read something different.  So on June 12, the information on page 4, it was where -- OEB panel question No. 2.  Right.  Okay, perfect.  Thank you.  Yes, that is great.  


Option 1, what I was reading there is you were suggesting an amendment that, "The Preferred Line is to supply”.  I thought you were deleting the words "to construct."

MR. KING:  No, I wasn't drafting.

COMMISSIONER DUFF:  Okay.


MR. KING:  That's a narrative.

COMMISSIONER DUFF:  Okay.  Thank you.  Thank you, very much.  That is clarified.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER SWORD:  Okay.  Thank you.  We will turn to Enbridge.  Or sorry, yes, Enbridge.  Ms. Persad?

MS. PERSAD:  Yes, thank you, Commissioner Sword.  I believe that we asked for about 15 minutes for argument.  But I think that we will probably --

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER SWORD:  Excuse me, excuse us, just for a second.  Are we all experiencing audio?

[Technical interruption]


PRESIDING COMMISSIONER SWORD:  It appears to be, yes, thank you.
Closing Argument by Ms. Persad


MS. PERSAD:  Okay.  Great.  Yes, as I was saying, that you may not have heard, I will take no more than 15 minutes for my submissions.

So I would like to make three points, and the first point is that Enbridge Gas confirms that it has no fundamental objection to the application and EPCOR's request either to be granted as CPCN or not, based upon the OEB's interpretation of section 8 of the Municipal Franchises Act.

And it is important in Enbridge Gas's view that the customer is an existing customer of EPCOR, and that Enbridge Gas has relatively few options that it would be able to use to serve the customer.  And those options would be more expensive and would have taken a fair bit more time than what EPCOR and Clearbeach have been able to do in these circumstances.  So, if there is a bypass, it would be justified in these circumstances.

Arguably, Enbridge Gas believes EPCOR should have apprised the OEB at an earlier date before providing its responses to interrogatories about the actual construction of the pipeline, given the outstanding application requesting the CPCN that was before the Board.  Or EPCOR should have been more explicit about withdrawing its application, because of its perspective that no CPCN is necessarily required.  So it just generally should have been more upfront.

However, Enbridge Gas does appreciate EPCOR's transparency in its later responses and in its testimony today, and that includes the transparency of the Clearbeach representatives that describe the course of events and their thought process that it has candidly stated changed, throughout.

An Enbridge Gas certainly agrees that this is a unique situation in the manner that this pipeline was constructed and in the characterization of this pipeline.

So that takes me to my second point, which is about the application of section 8 of the Municipal Franchises Act.  And we do agree that it is a bit of a quirky statute.

There is a lack of clarity regarding the nature of the Preferred Line.  While it can be characterized as a production line, and it has been bringing gas from a local well to a distribution system, it was constructed, as has been admitted, for the purpose of supplying the customer, EZ Grow.  So it can also be considered to be a supply line, and therefore, within the purview of section 8 of the Municipal Franchises Act, as a work constructed to supply natural gas in a municipality, that being Norfolk County.

Enbridge Gas submits that the OEB has discretion in this regard, and we agree with EPCOR submissions around this because of the purpose for which this pipeline was built, to serve EZ Grow.

And I would contrast this with what is likely the more common situation with local producers that connect to a distributor system in order to either sell gas to the distributor without a specific regard for the needs of any particular end-use customer, or to move their gas to a hub such as Enbridge Gas's Dawn hub, for example, through Enbridge Gas's M13 service.  So they can sell their gas to a marketer, or another customer at Dawn.

It does not appear that section 8 of the Municipal Franchises Act is intended to cover these types of gas pipelines, connecting wells to distribution systems, as it is focused on constructing works to supply gas in a municipality, and, in the context of the Municipal Franchises Act, it seems to be focused on the supply of a public utility to an end user.

But we acknowledge that this is not explicit in the section 8 wording, and we agree with the points that Mr. King has made on behalf of EPCOR in this regard, that there is ambiguity, and we believe the OEB has discretion.

It would be helpful from Enbridge's perspective to have clarity from the OEB as to how section 8 is interpreted and ought to be applied in this case.  Perhaps there should have been a joint application by Clearbeach and EPCOR for the CPCN or no application, at all.

If granting a CPCN to EPCOR, the OEB would likely have to find that EPCOR was somehow involved in the construction of the pipeline, as the word "construct" is used in section 8.  And we have all acknowledged that.  Of course, EPCOR denies the fact that it was actually involved in the construction, so it may be difficult for the OEB to make that finding, but we leave that in your hands.

Perhaps the OEB could consider issuing a limited CPCN to Clearbeach on condition that it be transferred to EPCOR at the time that EPCOR purchases the line and it becomes a distribution asset of EPCOR.  That's another, I think, option before you.

Frankly, Enbridge Gas prefers that a certificate be issued in this case because this was a pipeline constructed with the clear purpose of serving an end-use customer from the outset, and it appears to be the intention of EPCOR to ultimately own the pipeline.  At least this is the preference of it, as stated.

So that brings me to my last point, and this is about the form of the certificate that the Board issues, if it determines that a certificate should be issued in this case.  Enbridge Gas submits that the form of the certificate should be to amend the 2019 certificate for EPCOR in Norfolk County that was issued in the 2017 case -- I can give you references if you wish to have them; it's all on the record, however, and already referred to -- and also to amend the certificate issued in 2021 for Enbridge Gas in Norfolk County to remove that geographic area, which would be Lot 2 of Concession 7 in the former Township of Walsingham.

Of course, this would be subject to confirmation that the pipeline is only on Lot 2, which it appears to be from the maps on the record.  However, maybe a survey needs to be conducted to confirm that, and that should be confirmed by EPCOR and Clearbeach.

The OEB should require EPCOR to also submit a new map, in Enbridge Gas' submission, similar to what was issued in the 2017 proceeding for the certificates issued to EPCOR and Enbridge, similar to the map that's at page 108 of the PDF of the appendices filed by EPCOR in this case, and the map would delineate EPCOR's new certificate boundaries.  And Enbridge Gas intern would be willing to file a similar map to support its amended CPCN if the OEB decides to move in this direction.

And those are all of my submission, subject to any questions.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER SWORD:  Any questions from the -- no?  Okay.

COMMISSIONER DUFF:  I just have one question.  Your last sentence, so the Panel, you are suggesting the Panel would order Enbridge to file a map, as well?  Would we order you to do that?  How would that take place?

MS. PERSAD:  You know, we would be willing to -- I could take it as an undertaking, or the Board could make it a condition in its decision somehow or just say Enbridge has committed to file a map and will do so.  I mean I don't think it needs to be very formal.  But we see it as a manner of completing the Board's records on these CPCNs that are adjacent to each other, and it would be consistent with what is filed in the 2017 proceeding.

COMMISSIONER DUFF:  We have your submission that you have offered it, it sounds like.

MS. PERSAD:  Correct.  Absolutely.

COMMISSIONER CASS:  Okay, that is sufficient.

MS. PERSAD:  Thanks.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER SWORD:  Okay.  Thank you.  Next, we will turn to Ontario Energy Board Staff and Legal Counsel Lawren Murray.
Closing Argument by Mr. Murray


MR. MURRAY:  Thank you.  Once again, Lawren Murray, counsel to Board Staff.

I think we were anticipating originally being 15 minutes, but I don't expect we will actually be that long, but we do have a few things we wish to say.

Our first submission is that OEB Staff does not agree with EPCOR's position that the Clearbeach line is a production line for which a CPCN is not required.  The concept of a production line does not appear anywhere in the Municipal Franchises Act.

This case is similar to the OM Limited Partnership decision, which has been cited.  It is the 2017-0289 case, where the OEB rejected arguments that lines from the wells to a tie-in station on the customer's property were gathering lines for which a section 8 certificate was not required.

In this case, the sole purpose of the pipeline is to distribute gas to EZ Grow, the gas is actually segregated by the grass, and the pipeline will be supplying and in fact is already supplying natural gas to the EZ Grow facility, and therefore, in Staff's view, a certificate is required.

The second point I would like to make:  I want to address Commissioner Cass's question earlier today, which I took as:  If EPCOR says section 8 is not triggered, what authority does the OEB have to grant a certificate.

So, in response, Staff's first position is we think a certificate is required and the OEB does have authority to grant the certificate.  OEB Staff supports granting EPCOR a limited certificate under section 8.  Ultimately, EPCOR will be operating a pipeline that runs through an area where Enbridge already has a certificate.  Moreover, Enbridge is not harmed by EPCOR operating the pipeline.  All participants agree that EPCOR serving EZ Grow by way of pipeline is the best solution.  The customer resides in EPCOR's service certificate area already.

I also want to address the issue of who should have applied for this first section 8 certificate.  In our view, it was appropriate for EPCOR to apply for the certificate.

I don't know if it's possible.  Is it possible to pull up a copy of the original application in evidence?  Because I just want to direct the Panel's attention to something put there, so, if we could pull that up, that would be great.  If we could go to the actual application, as well, for the first page, and I am just focusing at the very end of page 1, paragraph 2, where it states: 
"ENGLP is proposing to supply the required natural gas by using Clearbeach Resources to construct a New Pipeline."

So it's been clear from the evidence from the beginning that, ultimately, this pipeline, while being constructed by Clearbeach, the intent was that it always was going to be going to EPCOR.  As a result, we think it was appropriate for EPCOR to be the one applying for the certificate.  We don't think it is EPCOR's employees, themselves, who have to be the boots on the ground, with shovels in the ground for them to be the appropriate person to apply for a certificate.

To be clear, the circumstances arising from this case are unique, and, in Staff's view, if this situation were to arise again, it should be handled differently.

OEB Staff also has unresolved questions about the interrelationship between this application and EPCOR's rates application.  As far as we can tell, it was not clear from the evidence filed in the rates case that Clearbeach was going to be constructing and at least initially owning the pipeline, nor was it clear that this pipeline was going to traverse Enbridge's territory.  Perhaps EPCOR could confirm in its reply if those facts were made clear on the record of that proceeding.

OEB Staff further submits that EPCOR should have applied earlier for the certificate.  In cases such as this, where a limited certificate is being sought for an area where another party already has a section 8 certificate, the process will invariably take longer.  OEB Staff also does not agree that it was appropriate or permissible for construction of the line to begin before the certificate was granted, but unfortunately that is not how things were handled and as a result this application has become far more complicated than it needed to be.

I wish to make two final points.  The first, and most of these are just cleanup points, is with respect to whether or not leave to construct is required for this application and we maintain our position in the written submission, which is leave to construct is not required for the reasons we set out in our submissions.

And, finally, with respect to conditions of approval, in our written submission we argued that if the certificate is granted the OEB should consider requiring EPCOR to advise the OEB on the date when EPCOR closes its acquisition with Clearbeach pipeline.  We maintain that that is an appropriate condition, and we also submit an additional related condition should be, which is OEB Staff submits that the approval of a section 8 certificate for EPCOR should be subject to the requirement that there is a successful transfer of ownership of the pipeline from Clearbeach to EPCOR.  In other words, the certificate is of no force and effect until the pipeline ownership is transferred from Clearbeach to EPCOR.  Subject to any questions that the Panel may have, those are OEB Staff submissions.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER SWORD:  Thank you, Mr. Murray.  Any questions from the Panel?

MR. LEWIS:  Yes, we do one moment.

COMMISSIONER DUFF:  Just to make sure we have the right reference, Mr. Murray, you had talked about the rates implication; right?  Of this.  And to OEB Staff it was not clear that this pipeline was part of that rates application or how that was raised.  Could you just reference the EB number that you were looking at in the decision, just to make sure there's no ambiguity.

MR. MURRAY:  Just give us a second.  I think the concern we are raising, and this is something that came up today --

COMMISSIONER DUFF:  I thought I wrote it down.

MR. MURRAY:  -- the relation between the two applications and we had questions about the information that was sort of being disclosed in the application.  If you give us a second we can give you the EB number on that.  It would be EB reference numbers 2024 0130.

COMMISSIONER DUFF:  Thank you.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER SWORD:  Okay.  No further questions from the Panel, and we turn to reply.
Reply Argument by Mr. King


MR. KING:  All right.  It's Richard King speaking.  Sometimes I like to chat with clients, but I think I can just have at it.  

I think I can agree with Mr. Murray that this has become more complicated than it needed to be; on that point we are in full agreement.  I do think, and I'll say it again, I do think we are losing focus just a bit here.  In my mind this is a terrific outcome in term of what happened.  We had a customer in distress, a very large customer, that couldn't get gas in a timely manner.  The two utility options, the incumbent utility and the nearby utility, were not feasible at all, both in terms of timing and at much greater cost we would say.  So the utility did what any well-meaning good utility did, which is find this other supply.  

And so, at the end of the day, the customer gets their gas.  It is utility quality gas.  There's no bypass.  Its structure is arranged in the same way that the utility organizes its commercial arrangements with producers across the board.  The customer doesn't burn heating oil.  

We can get hung up on the nuances of section 8, et cetera, but I think at the end of the day the practical value of section 8 is what Ms. Persad actually said, it actually delineates what this line is actually about.

So, I will just go through what I have managed to scribble down here in reply.  It will be a bit haphazard.  

On the point about there should have been notification to the Board about construction earlier, rather whoever the constructor is, Clearbeach, EPCOR, I just, I completely disagree.  The reality is there was a meeting with Board Staff and part of the outcome of that was let's structure this in a way so that it isn't bypassed.  There is no CPCN ever required for production lines, unless they happen to serve an end-use customer.  This is not service to an end-use customer, so no CPCN is required.  EPCOR is at the end of this line.  It is not analogous to the OM Maricann situation.  That is where a Clearbeach affiliate provides gas to the end-use customer.  That is not what is happening here.  No connection to the end-use customer EZ Grow and Clearbeach.  So there is no CPCN requirement and, as I said in my initial submissions or maybe even at some point during cross-examination, there is no other legal requirement for Clearbeach or EPCOR to notify the Board prior to commencement of construction.  Mr. Lewis doesn't talk to the Board about what he is constructing; he doesn't have to.

I think this is Enbridge's comments.  You know, in terms of the submissions made around, you know, maybe this isn't a production line, maybe this is a distribution line, this is an end-use customer, at the end, and that gets to the level of sort of technical connection at the endpoint.  I don't know whether EZ Grow will be around in five years, 10 years, 15 years.  But Mr. McCrank this morning was very clear, this provides system benefits.  They can adjust gas from, or prioritize gas from, the preferred line and that gives them system benefits.  

This is not a discrete case of pipeline serving an end-use customer, not just because there's no commercial relationship between Clearbeach and the end-use customer, which is incredibly important.  But there is an interaction with the system and there will be when EZ Grow disappears.  This is just another supply point to the utility.

I think on Ms. Persad's suggestion about maybe the right approach here is to issue the CPCN to Clearbeach and then transfer it to EPCOR if it ever gets purchased by EPCOR.  I'm sort of indifferent on that one, it sort of sixes for me in terms of whether that's a better approach.  

Clearbeach for me is still a production line that Clearbeach -- if EPCOR never owns this line I don't know why there would be a CPCN attached to it.  It doesn't make sense to me.  It's a Clearbeach line flowing local well gas with EPCOR purchasing it at the end.  It doesn't need a CPCN.  So that is my submission on that one.

And in terms of, I think, the last area is towards the end of Mr. Murray's submissions, the question of who should have applied, and I think he said it would have been appropriate for EPCOR to make the original application, given the wording at the end of page 1 of the application where it talks about ENGLP using Clearbeach.  That theme sort of runs through some of his subsequent submissions around EPCOR should have been notified earlier.  

The simple answer to that is that EPCOR doesn't have to buy this land and the parties seem to be largely indifferent; right?  Clearbeach has said on the record that they are indifferent as to whether they own it or whether EPCOR owns it.  Ms. Robinson classified it this morning as a nice-to-have but not a necessary-to-have.  So I don't know how -- I don't think that we can read the original application, now almost a year old, as saying this is sort of, this is an EPCOR system asset that would require a CPCN.  

And quite frankly, you know, given the circumstances, if the parties organize this such that Clearbeach built the line with no commitment on the part of EPCOR to purchase it, i.e. it could remain a Clearbeach line, the parties should be applauded.  They did what they needed to do to get the pipeline built and the customer served.  That is my submission on that.

And I think, I agree -- finally, I guess I agree with Mr. Murray on the -- I think he was saying what I was saying with respect to the effectiveness of any CPCN, should the Board decide to exercise their jurisdiction and grant one.  It should only come into effect if EPCOR is transferred ownership of the preferred line.  

That's all I’ve got.  I'm done.

PRESIDING COMMISSIONER SWORD:  Thank you, Mr. King.  Commissioners?  

Well, it is almost 2:00 o'clock and that concludes this proceeding.  On behalf of everyone, we would like to thank all those who appeared, witnesses who appeared in person and online as well.  We hope the audio was good and the connection was.  The richness of you being here was greatly appreciated and greatly valued, and that will be of assistance to the Panel when we make a decision.  

So, without further ado, we will adjourn the proceeding. 
--- Whereupon the proceedings concluded at 1:56 p.m.
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